

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Westhoff, Joachim

**Working Paper** 

Grid computing in small and medium-sized enterprises: An exploratory study of corporate attitudes towards economic and security-related issues

Bayreuther Arbeitspapiere zur Wirtschaftsinformatik, No. 32

**Provided in Cooperation with:** University of Bayreuth, Chair of Information Systems Management

*Suggested Citation:* Westhoff, Joachim (2008) : Grid computing in small and medium-sized enterprises: An exploratory study of corporate attitudes towards economic and security-related issues, Bayreuther Arbeitspapiere zur Wirtschaftsinformatik, No. 32, Universität Bayreuth, Lehrstuhl für Wirtschaftsinformatik, Bayreuth

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/52621

#### Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

#### Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



# WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



Lehrstuhl für Wirtschaftsinformatik Information Systems Management

No. 32 April 2008

# Bayreuther Arbeitspapiere zur Wirtschaftsinformatik

Joachim Westhoff

Grid Computing in Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises: An Exploratory Study of Corporate Attitudes towards Economic and Security-Related Issues

**Bayreuth Reports on Information Systems Management** 



ISSN 1864-9300

Die Arbeitspapiere des Lehrstuhls für Wirtschaftsinformatik dienen der Darstellung vorläufiger Ergebnisse, die i. d. R. noch für spätere Veröffentlichungen überarbeitet werden. Die Autoren sind deshalb für kritische Hinweise dankbar.

Alle Rechte vorbehalten. Insbesondere die der Übersetzung, des Nachdruckes, des Vortrags, der Entnahme von Abbildungen und Tabellen – auch bei nur auszugsweiser Verwertung.

# Authors:

Joachim Westhoff (University of Bayreuth)

The Bayreuth Reports on Information Systems Management comprise preliminary results which will usually be revised for subsequent publications. Critical comments would be appreciated by the authors.

All rights reserved. No part of this report may be reproduced by any means, or translated.

Information Systems and Management Working Paper Series

## Edited by:

Prof. Dr. Torsten Eymann

# Managing Assistant and Contact:

Raimund Matros Universität Bayreuth Lehrstuhl für Wirtschaftsinformatik (BWL VII) Prof. Dr. Torsten Eymann Universitätsstrasse 30 95447 Bayreuth Germany

Email: raimund.matros@uni-bayreuth.de

**ISSN** 1864-9300

# **Table of Contents**

1	Intro	oduction1		
2	Theoretical Background			
	2.1	Term Definition and Classification		
		2.1.1	Grid Computing 3	
		2.1.2	Grid Classification	
	2.2	Marke	t Structure and Characteristics	
		2.2.1	Heuß' Model of Market Phases	
		2.2.2	Diffusion of Innovation Theory 12	
	2.3	Grid N	Iarket Structure	
		2.3.1	Market Phases of Grid Computing 15	
		2.3.2	Diffusion Process and its Determinants	
		2.3.3	Key Issues in Grid Computing	
			2.3.3.1 Total Cost of Ownership and Quality of Service	
			2.3.3.2 Security Issues	
			2.3.3.3 Further Requirements for an open Grid market	
3	Rese	earch Me	ethodology	
	3.1	Operationalization of Questionnaire		
	3.2	Data Collection		
	3.3	Data Preparation		
	3.4	4 Methodology of Analysis		
		3.4.1	Ordinal Scale	
		3.4.2	Correlations	
		3.4.3	Non-parametric Tests	
4	Resu	ılts		
	4.1	Sample Characteristics		
	4.2	Univariate Analysis		
	4.3	Bivariate Analysis		
4.3.1 Correlations			Correlations	

		4.3.2	Contingency Tables		
			4.3.2.1	Public versus Private Sector	58
			4.3.2.2	SMEs versus Large Enterprises	60
		4.3.3	Significa	nce Tests of Contingency Tables	62
			4.3.3.1	Freeman-Halton Test	62
			4.3.3.2	Fisher's Exact Test	65
5	Disc	ussion, I	Evaluation	n, and Application of Results to open Grids	68
	5.1	Discus	sion		68
		5.1.1	Discussio	on of Grid Market Structure	68
			5.1.1.1	Grid Market in General	68
			5.1.1.2	Public versus Private Sector	70
			5.1.1.3	SMEs versus Large Enterprises	71
		5.1.2	Discussio	on of Key Issues	72
			5.1.2.1	Total Cost of Ownership and Quality of Service	72
			5.1.2.2	Security Issues	74
			5.1.2.3	Further Requirements	76
	5.2	Evalua	tion and L	imitations of Research Methodology	77
	5.3	Theore	tical Mod	el of Factors Influencing open Grid Adoption	78
		5.3.1	Technolo	ogical	79
		5.3.2	Organiza	tional	81
		5.3.3	Environr	nental	83
	5.4 Implications			85	
6 Conclusion				86	
Ap	pendiz	x			89
	А	Scatter	Scatter plot		
	В	Definitions of Security and Reputation			90
B.1 Using Security Mechanism for Securing Grid Transaction			curity Mechanism for Securing Grid Transactions	90	
		B.2	A Notior	n of Trust	93
		B.3	Reputation	on and Trust	94
	С	E-Mail	Invitation	n	96
	D	O Survey			96
		D.1	Question	naire	96

	D.2	Item Description		
Е	Industrial Sectors and NACE codes (European Commission 2008) 104			
F	Data Tables			
	F.1	Correlations 105		
	F.2	Contingency Table (Private versus Public) 106		
	F.3	Significance Test of 3x2 Contingency Tables (Private versus Public		
		Sector)		
	F.4	Significance Test of 3x2 Contingency Tables (SME versus		
		Enterprises)		
	F.5	Significance Test of 2x2 Contingency Tables 109		
References				
List of Abbreviations				
List of Figures				
List of Tables				
Honor Code				

# III

# 1 Introduction

The pressure on companies to respond flexibly to market changes has increased significantly over the last years. This external pressure also affects in-house infrastructures of information technology (IT) (Bieberstein et al. 2006, p. 1). Divisions and departments within a company therefore need specific, flexible, and unique solutions, which has led to a considerable amount of decentralization within IT infrastructures in the past.

In recent years, this development induced the evolution of so-called IT silos, in which applications are bound to specific servers or infrastructures (Foster and Tuecke 2005, p. 28). In order to offer enough computing power within peak times, extensive resources have to be available. Thus, idle system time can account for almost 90% of total uptime. The unused hardware consequently ties up enormous amounts of capital that cannot be invested profitably otherwise (Carr 2005). In addition, further investments to expand the existing infrastructure for economic growth also call for financial resources. Companies lacking these resources are inhibited from responding flexibly to computing demands. Therefore, IT has become a substantial competitive factor.

In this situation, Grid computing offers to integrate hardware horizontally and share (geographically) distributed resources within or beyond the boundaries of the individual enterprise (Foster and Kesselman 2004). Through Grid computing, companies can dynamically buy additional computing resources or make unused processing time, storage, services or applications available. The capital lockup can be reduced and resources can be used more flexibly.

Within a company, available resources are highly limited. Since Grid computing started in the scientific world, where resource sharing across geographical and institutional boundaries is essential for research purposes, the interest to apply the approach of pervasive computing—the open Grid—to business purposes has increased significantly. Within such an open network of Grid computing, a large number of different resources can be made available between any interested party (Plaszczak and Wellner 2006).

In this context, the EU-funded project SORMA (Self-Organizing ICT Resource Management) is developing an open market platform for Grid resources. Using this technology, excess capacities can be offered and additional demand for computing power can be satisfied automatically—within and across organizational boundaries (Neumann et al. 2007). This research project originated within this context.

To date, the utilization of Grid functionalities is still limited. For this reason, businesses need support in analyzing business issues of Grid computing (Thanos et al. 2007) and possible business models (Altmann et al. 2007). Since subjective assessments are important factors that influence the decision to adopt a technology and especially open Grid resources (Hwang and Park 2007), the contribution of this paper to ongoing research is to examine corporate attitudes more closely. Two specific issues arise: the management and evaluation of IT-related costs and the perceived security challenges within an open Grid environment. An explorative survey was conducted to analyze possible requirements and influential factors of an open Grid platform. This approach specifically focuses on the attitude of experienced individuals within existing Grid networks. In the course of this paper, the findings of the conducted study will be generalized and applied to open Grids. As a result, hypotheses will be elaborated and a theoretical model of determinants for the adoption of open Grid resources will be proposed. This model can then be assessed theoretically and practically in order to deal with potentially unsubstantiated subjective objections (Carr 2005, p. 71) against the adoption of Grid platforms in general and to enhance an existing open Grid platform in order to accelerate its diffusion.

Following this introduction (Chapter 1), the existing Grid market will be analyzed in Chapter 2. After an introduction to Grid computing in general, the market, its participants, and determinants of the diffusion process are observed from a theoretical perspective. Then, the focus will be on the key issues of economic and securityrelated aspects.

Chapter 3 concentrates on the methodology of the conducted research. The questionnaire as well as the conduction of the survey and the analysis of the data will be described here.

The results of this study will be summarized in Chapter 4. The description and analysis will specifically focus on the structure and relationship between the items re-

spectively the responses depending on company size and business purpose (private versus public sector).

Chapter 5 then discusses the obtained results. Derived from these results, a theoretical model of determinants for the intention to adopt open Grid resources will be proposed. The limitations of this study will be outlined and practical implications will be given.

A conclusion and a summary in Chapter 6 will close this paper.

# 2 Theoretical Background

#### 2.1 Term Definition and Classification

## 2.1.1 Grid Computing

Although many attempts have been undertaken to define the term Grid Computing, no common definition has become prevalent until today. Nevertheless, the elaborations of Foster (2002) et al. (2001; 2004) seem to become the de facto standard. I will therefore follow their definition and redefinitions at first and elaborate important and missing parts regarding business issues subsequently.

The term Grid computing was originally used in the mid 1990s for an advanced distributed computing structure (Foster et al. 2001) although the vision of computing power as a commodity—comparable to the electricity or water grid—was already mentioned in the mid 1960s (Vyssotsky et al. 1965). After several redefinitions (Foster and Kesselman 1999; Foster et al. 2001), Foster (2002, pp. 2-3) therefore stated in a three-point checklist that

"a Grid is a system that:

coordinates resources that are not subject to centralized control
 [...]

- 2. ... using standard, open, general-purpose protocols and interfaces
  [...]
- 3. ... to deliver nontrivial qualities of service (QoS) [...]".

From this definition it can be concluded that Grid computing is concerned with direct access to heterogeneous resources through standard, open, general-purpose protocols. Furthermore, "the goal [of Grid computing] is to provide a service-oriented infrastructure that leverages standardized protocols and services to enable pervasive access to and coordinated sharing of geographically distributed hardware, software, and information resources" (Parashar and Lee 2005, p. 479). Services as small, reusable agents (Joseph and Fellenstein 2004, p. 64) can therefore be seamlessly integrated in order to create new and flexible functionalities that become necessary e.g. in a rapidly changing business environment. The mentioned standards provide the needed interoperability of resources and services for collaboration across multiple control domains. A thorough description of the underlying Grid architecture and its standards can be found in Foster et al. (2002b).

Dynamic "virtual organizations" (VOs) (Foster et al. 2001) are a key element within the described sharing environment. The policies of the virtual organization therefore constitute one common trust domain for individuals, groups or organizations from diverse administrative domains with differing degrees of prior relationship (Foster et al. 2001, pp. 200-201; Welch et al. 2003). Thus, participants of VOs can be part of various VOs and may offer various resources, each with different rules and conditions for usage according to the respective VO. Moreover, VOs enable its members to increase their productivity as they can resort to a significantly greater number of resources or specialized equipment (Humphrey et al. 2005, p. 644). Foster et al. (2001, p. 204) therefore view the concept of dynamically-scalable VOs fundamental for future computing.

For this reason, Grid computing does not only offer the possibility to solve computationally intensive tasks. The horizontal integration of IT silos, where applications rely on specific hardware, and distributed resources seems to be especially rewarding for companies (Carr 2005). Thus, IT assets can be combined to increase already exist-

ing low utility rates of e.g. 15-35% of available processing power within data centers (Andrzejak et al. 2002, p. 6).

Consequently, an independent area of research—Grid economics—has been developed within recent years (Neumann et al. 2006, p. 206). Grid economics deals with the production, allocation, and consumption of Grid resources and tries to bridge the gap between the technological groundwork regarding Grid computing and business specifics. In this context, business models for Grid applications or market models for resource allocation are applied to Grid computing. Thus, Grid computing and a payper-use market, as one example of a business model, offer new economic possibilities, especially for outsourcing of IT in small- and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) lacking the financial resources to afford investments into specific software licenses or infrastructures (Thanos et al. 2007, p. 6). Especially since collaboration within the business-to-business (B2B) sector has increased and several companies dispatch business processes and value chains in conjoined fashion, the Grid computing concept of virtual organizations and integration of resources across company boundaries proposes many new possibilities to businesses (Thanos et al. 2007, pp. 2-3). Recent research on Grid economics was published in Altmann and Veit (2007).

To conclude, the horizontal integration of resources is the main driving force behind Grid computing and offers various new possibilities especially to businesses. Yet, common standards are necessary in order to facilitate the interoperability and collaboration of virtual organizations. As the concept of virtual organizations is fundamental to pervasive Grid computing, a closer look will be taken at the scope of Grid computing and its classification.

# 2.1.2 Grid Classification

According to their perspective or purpose, Grid computing solutions can be classified differently. Krauter et al. (2002) view Grid computing solutions from a rather technical perspective and propose the categories computational, data, and service Grids. Joseph et al. (2004; see Figure 19) define a similar scale as "increasing IT complexity" (Infrastructure Optimization, Computing Grid, Data Grid, Service Grid, Virtualized Applications) and add a second dimension of "increasing organizational complexity"

(Enterprise Grid: Infra-Grid and Intra-Grid; Partner Grid: Extra-Grid and Inter-Grid). Yet, Plaszczak's and Wellner's (2006) approach will be followed which focuses on the organizational dimension in defining Departmental Grids, Enterprise Grids, Partner Grids, and Open Grids. This classification will be reduced to three steps according to the stages of collaboration and coordination: Intragrids, Intergrids, and open Grids.

Intragrids are Grid implementations within a single department (Departmental Grid) or organization (Enterprise Grid). They can yield considerable performance enhancements and cost-reductions, especially if departments are scattered around the globe (Thanos et al. 2007, p. 4). Servers and data centers can thus be integrated to increase the utilization rate. The organizational boundaries constitute a strong framework for controlling the offered resources since all resources stay behind the corporate firewall. Therefore, the security risk they exhibit is only minimal (Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, pp. 66-68). Within departments, sharing usually occurs between small user groups working closely together for which only simple rules and policies are necessary. Nevertheless, Grids spanning multiple departments of a company are in need for a system of usage policies as demand might exceed supply in peak times. However, the quantity of available resources is limited. The high level of control facilitates the enforcement of claims when being unsatisfied (Eymann et al. 2008, p. 13).

Intergrids consist of two or more Intragrids to collaborate in one common project, similar to business-to-business networks or VOs, and go beyond the corporate fire-wall (Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, p. 69). Thus, across organizational boundaries, the coordination in Intergrids depends on specific security or reputation mechanisms and service-level or framework agreements (Eymann et al. 2008, p. 11; Foster et al. 2002a, p. 40) as the level of control decreases. Intergrids are challenging to implement as security issues as well as organizational and psychological factors complicate their deployment. Therefore, participants are very careful about making their resources available (Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, p. 69). Within the respective contractual framework, Intergrids enable guaranteed levels of quality of service (QoS) (Hwang and Park 2007, p. 18), but the number of shared resources is still limited to the environment of business partners.

Open Grids will usually not be based on one single project. Rather all interested parties are able to share their resources within a pervasive Grid market, a platform for worldwide resource sharing (Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, pp. 70-71). Resources will consequently be shared within and beyond organizational boundaries. Yet, only a low level of control exists. The platform will be governed by decentralized market mechanisms, as no central institution for regulating the market will be present. Decentralized reputation systems therefore become more important (Eymann et al. 2008, pp. 17-19). Similar to the Internet today (Weishäupl and Schikuta 2004, p. 599), existing Intra- and Intergrids might form one global Grid in the future. Through access and usage transparency, users might resort to Grid resources without being aware of the respective complexity (Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, p. 71).

Although proprietary solutions might be possible within Intragrids and partially in Intergrids, the use of open standards and protocols is important in order to ensure scalability, interoperability and a close integration with existing systems (Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, p. 69). The more Grid solutions expand into open platforms, the more decentralization and market mechanisms for regulating resource sharing become necessary.

Technological maturity is an important factor for the future of a technology respectively innovation but cannot promote a technology separately (Thanos et al. 2007, p. 13). Therefore, a closer look will be taken at the market structure as well as the attitudes and characteristics of the respective market actors from a theoretical perspective in order to apply these findings to Grid computing subsequently. I will focus on Intragrids and open Grids in the following as mostly Intragrids are being deployed at the moment (see Ch. 2.3) and the findings will be later transferred to open Grids (see Ch. 5).

#### 2.2 Market Structure and Characteristics

#### 2.2.1 Heuß' Model of Market Phases

As the approach of the Harvard School (Industrial Organization in the narrower sense) and the concept of contestable markets limited their analysis on price determination that only persist under specific market conditions (Oberender and Väth 1989, p. 17), Heuß (1965) focused on additional parameters, susceptible by the entrepreneur. His general market theory centered the entrepreneur in the chronological development of market phases and, thus, forms part of the Austrian School of economics.

Indeed, Heuß' theory of market phases was eclipsed by the development of the "new industrial economics" (Erlei 1998, p. 2) which is why most of the following descriptions are based on Heuß (1965). Moreover, a shortening of market phases can be noticed in the field of digital goods (Fichert 2002, p. 4; Zimmerlich and Aufderheide 2004, p. 7). Yet, Heuß' fruitful elaborations of the attributes of market participants will yield interesting details in order to distinguish and to analyze the Grid computing environment. In a later stage of research, Heuß' model could also be used in order to define competition policies (Zimmerlich and Aufderheide 2004) demanded by Neumann et al. (2006), especially, since patents and legal policies can be deployed for prolonging a company's monopoly (Oberender and Väth 1989, p. 20). In this research, though, the model will only be used to obtain better insights into the structure of the Grid market, its actors, and their behavior.

The foundation for Heuß' general market theory was the analysis of individuals acting in a market and their mutual relations (Heuß 1965; Ch. 2). He concludes that different types of entrepreneurs exist that utilize the available parameters in the market differently. In addition to Schumpeter's (1952) concept, Heuß exemplified four different entrepreneurial types (Figure 2-1) in order to analyze the market processes subsequently.

On the one hand, the category of the progressive type spontaneously reacts to changes in the marketplace with innovative ideas and products and is thereby willing to take on the additional risks of such a structured market. *Pioneering entrepreneurs* therefore interpret parameters as products, costs or demand as manageable and shape-

able. Their actions are thus based on spontaneity and intuition. The spontaneously *imitating entrepreneur* in turn imitates the product or service of the pioneering competitor and enters the market himself (Heuß 1965, pp. 8-9).

On the other hand, the conservative type only reacts defensively to external pressures and adjusts to the changing conditions of the market. Whereas the *reactive entrepreneur* only takes on new methods and ideas after a notable amount of pressure by his contestants, the *immobile entrepreneur* can only survive under stationary conditions and therefore calls for all possible interventions that will preserve these conditions (Heuß 1965, p. 10).



Figure 2-1. Heuß' classification of entrepreneurs (Source: Author, based on (Heuß 1965, p. 10))

Nevertheless, this taxonomy is not rigid in itself. The pioneering entrepreneur can easily turn into an immobile businessperson, as his assertiveness is key to success in the very first phases of a market, but can detain him from adapting to important changes within his environment at a later stage. Accordingly, a similar case exists between the imitating entrepreneur and his reactive counterpart. As it takes particular effort to enter a market, the entrant will soon loose a considerable amount of his energy after reaching a targeted position and will rather react to external pressures. However, the distinction between these two types of entrepreneurs is blurry.

Yet, in a traditional market, a product is regarded as given with a certain demand and supply. This market definition does not allow an examination of the aforemen-

tioned entrepreneurial types for whom all parameters as product, demand, costs, etc. are susceptible. The market only reflects a certain type of entrepreneur being active in a certain market phase. Heuß shows—based on the volume of production—that the market of perfect competition is only one of four possible market phases (Figure 2-2).

Nevertheless, the delineation of markets remains being complicated. According to the problem being analyzed, the delimitation has to be carried out on a case-by-case basis (Heuß 1965, pp. 23-24). A possible criterion is the interdependence of price. Companies are thought to be part of the same market if a participant's change in price affects the price policy of another market actor. However, this criterion is not applicable in the case of perfect competition.



Figure 2-2. Heuß' market phases according to volume of production

1 – Experimental Phase, 2 – Expansion Phase, 3 – Maturation Phase, 4 – Stagnation and Degeneration Phase (Source: Author, based on (Heuß 1965, p. 15); translation from German)

*Experimental Phase*. In the experimental phase, no market in the original sense of the word yet exists, as the product still has to be developed. Heuß therefore constitutes two different phases of product development: one being the invention of a product, the second being the further enhancement for manufacturing. In turn, the manufacturing usually requires a broad set of additional inventions. Yet, the chances of success of a new invention can only be measured by subjective estimation, as the invention in

itself is rather individual. Therefore, the realization or implementation of an invention is also based on intuition and belief.

The economic experimental phase, however, starts after the challenges of manufacturing have been resolved. In this phase, the key components are the creation of demand, the diminution of mistrust and skepticism and, subsequently, the persuasion of every possible consumer. As uncertainty and a high volume of risks coin the creation of demand, only pioneering entrepreneurs will be part of this early stage of a market (Heuß 1965, pp. 26-40).

*Expansion Phase.* In the expansion phase, the demand curve is rather influenced by the speed of the diffusion of the product than a periodic consumption. Income or price are in this phase only minor determining factors until the limit of the market will be reached which in turn constitutes the end of the expansion phase. The demand creation in this phase can instead be seen as a self-governed process. However, additional endeavors have to be undertaken in order to enter new markets and increase the demand for the product. Consequently, the initiative and assertiveness of the respective entrepreneurs is key to the expansion of the product.

In contrast to the creation of product and demand as main challenges in the experimental phase, a viable demand and a valuable supply determine the expansion phase. Improvements of quality and handling as well as enhancements of the product's features take place to improve the applicability of the recently entered markets. Similarly, rationalizations and cost reductions occur because of the process of experiences that then lead to major price reductions (Heuß 1965, pp. 41-62). Specific parameters that the entrepreneurs can influence and deploy in this stage are product, demand, costs, and price (Oberender 1973, p. 29).

*Maturation Phase.* In the maturation phase, production slows down and a small fraction of consumers remains that are indifferent towards the product due to objection or neglect. Therefore, new fields of application do not arise anymore and only product differentiations take place. This, in turn, leads to competition of the differentiated product with already existing products; but still new demand can be created. Yet, the more differentiation takes place, the stronger they converge to quasi-homogeneous

goods with strong competition amongst one another until only small or no new demand can be generated. For this reason, oligopolies and monopolies in this classical market structure cannot be eliminated naturally and control the market (Heuß 1965, pp. 62-84). As the market moves on and becomes more transparent to the market actors, the number of available parameters decreases. Thus, in the maturation phase only price and quality of the product constitute changeable parameters (Oberender 1973, p. 29). Supply, demand, and product become fixed parameters.

*Stagnation and Degeneration Phase.* External pressures onto the market determine this particular phase. As enhancements in the production process become smaller and underperform the general economic development, labor costs and thus production costs will rise because of the increasing economic wage level. The market will shrink in total, though absolute growth for certain entrepreneurs is possible, as some of their contestants will leave the market (Heuß 1965, pp. 85-104). The only available parameter to the entrepreneurs is the price (Oberender 1973, p. 29).

In the degeneration phase, the introduction of highly innovative products will change the market structure as far as eliminating the obsolete products from their original market. However, the attitude of the involved entrepreneurs determines the date of the respective market. If rather innovative and proactive businesspeople are engaged in this market, it is possible that they will create a new market for these products and the degeneration phase can thus be overcome.

# 2.2.2 Diffusion of Innovation Theory

Diffusion theory, on the other hand, combines several different theories from behavioral sciences to marketing (Robertson and Gatignon 1986, p. 1), from research on information technology (IT) implementation to research on organizational behavior (Kwon and Zmud 1987, p. 227; Premkumar et al. 1997, p. 108), and includes theoretical and empirical findings from various backgrounds (Rogers 2003; Tornatzky and Klein 1982). It therefore serves as a useful reference discipline since innovation diffusion theory constitutes a very popular element of IT research (Allen 2000, pp. 210-211).

A general approach from diffusion theory to define the stages of a market or more specifically—the stages of the diffusion of an innovation was mainly developed by Rogers (2003). "An innovation is any idea, practice or object that is perceived as new *by the adopter*" (Fichman 1992). The accumulated dispersion of a technology is generally thought to follow an S-shaped curve (Figure 2-3), similar to Heuß' general examinations of a single market. Regarding the additional growth of adopters, a bellshaped curve under a normal distribution represents the diffusion process over time. Though, Rogers in contrast defined five different categories of so-called adopters using an innovation for the first time: innovators, early adopters, early majority, late majority, and laggards (Rogers 2003; see Ch. 7). The following description is mainly based on Rogers' classical diffusion theory, as it became the foundation for diffusion research.



**Figure 2-3.** (a) Accumulated dispersion of an innovation , (b) Diffusion process over time follows a bell-shaped curve under the normal distribution (Source: Author, based on (Rogers 2003, pp. 273, 281))

*Innovators.* Innovators can be described as being daring, risk-loving, cosmopolite, as well as technically interested. They have the ability to back their ventures with adequate financial resources in case an innovation turns out to be unfavorable. Thus, an innovator also has to be capable of coping with setbacks, poorly conceived documentation and functionality (Moore 1999, p. 31). Although local peers do usually not respect him, the innovator has an important role in selecting promising innovations to introduce into the respective system (Rogers 2003, pp. 282-283).

*Early Adopters*. In contrast to innovators, early adopters are rather integrated into the underlying system. Especially interested adopters resort to their opinion leadership for obtaining information as well as good or bad case practice about the technology. Moreover, especially change agents reach out for early adopters in order to speed up the diffusion process. As a role model, they have the ability to reduce uncertainty about innovations and to approve the technology in adopting it. They are key for reaching a critical mass (Rogers 2003, p. 283).

*Early Majority*. A strong interpersonal connection exists between the early adopters and the early majority. In fact, the latter constitutes an important link within the whole system or market. Yet, they lack opinion leadership. One third of all market members fall within this category adopting an innovation before the average member. They consider the adoption carefully and rather follow their peers deliberately (Rogers 2003, pp. 283-284).

*Late Majority*. Similar to the early majority, the late majority consists of one third of possible market participants. As was already described in Heuß' theory, the pressure on conservative entrepreneurs rises, thus also forcing them to adopt the new technology or product. The late majority can be described as being fairly skeptical and cautious. Therefore, most of an innovation's uncertainty has to be removed (Rogers 2003, p. 284).

*Laggards*. Furthermore, laggards represent the last category of possible technology adopters. They are rather detached from their peers and follow traditional values. Moreover, laggards are suspicious of any innovation as well as change agent urging

them to adopt. Additionally, they only own a small amount of resources, which denotes that an innovation has to function properly without any uncertainty (Rogers 2003, pp. 284-285).

*Change Agents.* In addition to the opinion leaders respectively early adopters, another important role in the innovation diffusion process inherit the change agents as they can influence and consequently speed up the process (Fichman 2000). Change agents can be consultants or salespeople (Rogers 2003, p. 368), have a "high degree of expertise" and are part of innovation and client networks. Since having a different language and vocabulary, communication could be a barrier in direct communication with clients. They also have to deal with information overload, since being part of the innovation network in which a lot of irrelevant information is transmitted. Thus, choosing the right information for each client is important.

Not only is the client contact important in measuring the success of change agents, the phases of the innovation cycle also play a major role. At the beginning, the agent's effort mostly equals the rate of adoption. After a critical mass is reached and the opinion leaders adopt the innovation, change agents become less important in creating awareness for the new technology (Rogers 2003, p. 374) and the opinion leaders further guide the process of opinion formation.

In addition to Heuß' market theory, similar and additional information about the theoretical market phases and characteristics of the market actors could be found in the classical diffusion theory. In the following, this specific information will be applied in order to analyze the existing Grid market and its structure.

## 2.3 Grid Market Structure

# 2.3.1 Market Phases of Grid Computing

Although Grid computing became part of a hype in the research and commercial sphere, it is now crossing the disillusionment phase and will need another two to five years in order to reach maturity; a similar development as SOA and Web Services (Fenn and Linden 2005; Figure 2). In the following, the predictions from business and

research concerning the commercial diffusion and deployment of Grid solutions will be examined more closely. The findings from the previous chapter will serve as theoretical foundation. Moreover, I will examine the diffusion process and its determinants that facilitate or constrain the diffusion of Grid computing. Consequently, the key issues will be worked out according to the actual market structure and theoretical propositions will be derived.

*Commercial Predictions.* Several commercial Grid reports and market analysis are available: the 451 Group Grid Adoption Research Service (451 Group 2006), the Oracle / Quocirca Grid Index (Quocirca 2006), Gartner Research (Chuba and Claunch 2006; Fenn and Linden 2005), or the Global Grid Computing Reports 2002 and 2007 by Grid Technology Partners (2002), only to name a few. Nevertheless, these commercial reports, indexes, and research studies tend to be biased, as the corresponding companies are mostly involved in the Grid computing business themselves. These forecasts, therefore, have to be taken carefully (Forge and Blackman 2006, p. 24). In general, forecasts on the Grid market development are mainly industry driven which is why serious research on this topic is hard to attain. Nevertheless, an overview of the state-of-the-art in Grid research can be found in Altmann and Routzounis (2006).

Early adopters of Grid computing can especially be found in the finance and banking, pharmaceutical, or manufacturing sectors (e.g. automotive, aerospace) (451 Group 2006; Forge and Blackman 2006, pp. 6, 21) as they either require a great amount of computing power for computing simulations or the involved functions and resources are scattered geographically and in different administrative domains.

*Conclusions from Research and Theory.* As of 2004, the adoption of Grid computing was in the "very first phase" (Abbas 2004, Ch. 19). Since then, the situation has not fundamentally changed, although commercial research institutions predict Grid computing to be in the "early adopter"-stage: The use of Grid computing is still limited, and especially SMEs do not consider the use of Grid technologies (Schikuta et al. 2005, p. 4). Therefore, Altmann et al. (2007, p. 30) call for a clear analysis of value chains or cost models and demand incentives as well as concrete business models.

From Heuß' and Rogers' models it can be concluded that the market for enterprise Grids is already in the stage of expansion respectively early adoption. However, the technological standards and security issues are currently not that mature (Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, p. 177). Therefore, it is doubtable if a market for open Grids already exists.

Yet, tools with open-end support are being developed for creating a pervasive Grid infrastructure. Still, experienced and dedicated people are necessary to implement Grid technologies which is why more practical and simpler applications and tools are needed, especially in the enterprise sector (Parashar and Lee 2005, pp. 481-482). This might be a reason why many companies focus on supporting rather rudimentary Grid capabilities like cycle scavenging and data storage today. The concept of virtual organizations is yet not included in on-demand offerings (Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, p. 87). As a general rule, Abbas (2004, pp. 25-27) predicts an integration of servers first and consecutively of applications, data centers, staff, and similar resources. This seems reasonable as less people involved in the decision process will ease and speed up the process (Rogers 2003, p. 221).

Although enterprise Grid computing has reached the early adopters-stage, the early majority has not been reached yet (BEinGRID 2008). Moore (1999) calls this phenomenon a "chasm" in innovation diffusion, the so-called gap between the early adopters and the early majority. Still, past research did not reveal any clues for the existence of such a gap between adopter categories (Rogers 2003, p. 282). Following Heuß (1965, p. 42), the expansion of demand to reach a critical mass (Rogers 2003, p. 283) is rather bound to additional efforts to create demand for the innovation and to conquer new markets. Depending on the speed of diffusion, this process can be rather lengthy and might be comparable to Moore's gap between early adopters and early majority. Still, his elaborations about marketing possibilities in this context seem quite appealing in order to derive advice for practitioners and marketing campaigns.

In addition, commercial as well as scientific research on adoption and diffusion tend to show a pro-innovation bias (Allen 2000, pp. 212-213; Rogers 2003) assuming that over time an innovation will be adopted because of its positive features. Foster et al. (2002a, p. 38) for example predicted Grid computing to enhance the Internet tre-

mendously. Especially the aforementioned commercial reports and presentations glorify Grid technologies in order to create awareness amongst enterprises and to obtain new customers.

Nonetheless, as resource-sharing is very important in Grid computing, corporate cultures, the organizational member's individual perception of security threats or even legal challenges (e.g. copyrights, licenses, ownership definition) may hinder the adoption of Grid computing (Parashar and Lee 2005, p. 482). Thus, not only technical issues have to be resolved in order to enhance Grid computing and to establish a market for open Grid resources. In addition, perceived challenges and concerns have to be taken into account.

#### 2.3.2 Diffusion Process and its Determinants

As outlined before, the diffusion of enterprise Grids is bound to a complicated process of creating demand for Grid computing. Especially, engrained attitudes towards management practice and business processes hinder the deployment of new techniques (Carr 2005, p. 71). As diffusion theory also analyzes the determinants of facilitating or deterring innovation adoption (Chwelos et al. 2001, p. 305), I will take a closer look at the determinants and factors that influence the corporate attitude on innovations and, thus, the intention to adopt the new technology. Although Chwelos et al. further argue that most of the research regarding technological factors has focused on "individual-level adoption", a review of literature on IT diffusion also reveals that a similar amount of research was spent on innovation with high-knowledge burdens in an organizational context (Fichman 1992). For this reason, I will specifically refer to this aspect of innovation diffusion theory in order to outline a few possible determinants of the adoption of Intragrids.

*Diffusion Process.* The process of diffusion of innovations is usually structured into three stages: initiation, adoption, and implementation (Thompson 1976). In contrast, Kwon and Zmud (1987) find that the IS implementation process within a company should rather be analyzed as a six-stages process (initiation, adoption, adaptation, acceptance, use, incorporation). Certainly, a global perspective of influential factors during the process of implementing IT innovations is important. However, as the

adoption of Grid technologies is in the focus of this research, this study focuses rather the initiation of the process respectively the final adoption decision with its determining factors.

*Determinants of Innovation Adoption.* As the innovation diffusion research was applied to several areas of research, I will resort to fields that are closely related to Grid computing. As Grid computing relies on the interchange of data in order to exchange resources, diffusion research on EDI (Electronic Data Interchange) (e.g. Chwelos et al. 2001; Premkumar et al. 1997) is closely linked to determinants for the adoption of Grid technologies. Furthermore, Hwang and Park (2007) as well as Thanos et al. (2007) have taken first steps in presenting decision factors that influence the adoption of Grid computing within business environments. Maqueira and Bruque (2006) even presented a first adoption model for Grid computing. But as the corresponding fundamentals are based on an unpublished work and the model resorts to Premkumar's et al. (1997) model, I will rather exert the latter. Furthermore, Rogers' model is usually used as classical theory for forecasting the development of the diffusion of technologies (Moore 1999, p. 11). Yet, one has to be careful in applying classical diffusion theory to new contexts (Fichman 1992). According to the context, determinants of diffusion and adoption therefore have to be selected appropriately.

*Technological.* From the model of market phases and the adopter categories, it can be concluded that technological factors are driving an innovation especially in the first phases of a market. As can be derived from Rogers' model (Rogers 2003; Ch. 6), the five attributes relative advantage (being better than the previous technology), compatibility (to conform to beliefs, experiences, and needs), complexity (degree of difficulty to understand), trialability (possibility of testing prior to adoption), and observability (visibility of results) explain most of the variance in the rate of adoption. However, research has only found three out of 25 differing variables to be affecting adoption (Tornatzky and Klein 1982), namely relative advantage, compatibility, and complexity. This is supported within Grid environments as Grid computing has to be able to deliver increased business value (Joseph et al. 2004, p. 638). Yet, Moore and Benbasat (1991) presented an instrument for measuring the adopter's perception of an

\_

innovation. Thus, Rogers' observability was found to be separable into result demonstrability and visibility (being visible to the adopter, e.g. hardware). They further described the factors ease of use (use is "free of physical and mental effort" (Davis 1989, p. 82)), image (enhancement of individuals' social status), and voluntariness (degree of being free to choose adoption) to influence an adopter. Kleinaltenkamp (1995, p. 2362) also predicted product standardization to speed up the diffusion, as new competitors will enter the market because their knowledge about the standard solution increases. This development can also be seen in Heuß' market development. The more transparent a market becomes, the more knowledge will the entrepreneurs have about their competitors and their products, and imitate them. Moreover, Hwang and Park (2007) observed the ease in implementation as being an influential determinant of Grid computing adoption. Table 2-1 summarizes the described technological factors.

	Technological				
_	Relative Advantage				
_	Compatibility	(Rogers 2003; Ch. 6; Tor- natzky and Klein 1982)			
-	Complexity				
_	Observability	(Rogers 2003)			
	Result demonstrability				
	• Visibility	(Moore and Benbasat 1991)			
-	Ease of use	(Davis 1989)			
-	Image				
-	Voluntariness	(Moore and Benbasat 1991)			
-	Product standardization	(Kleinaltenkamp 1995)			
_	Ease in implementation	(Hwang and Park 2007)			

Table 2-1. Technological factors

*Organizational*. Yet, organizational and environmental factors also affect the organizational intention to adopt an innovation. Apart from top management support, size was also found to be a predictor variable for innovation diffusion and adoption (Chwelos et al. 2001, pp. 305-306; Premkumar et al. 1997, p. 117). Thus, financial or similar resources for the adoption depend on top management commitment. Addition-

ally, the greater a company is the more financial resources it could deploy for the utilization of new technologies. However, as research on organizational factors has found weak or contradictory results, Fichman (1992, pp. 15-16) suggested to include absorptive capacity ("ability to exploit external knowledge" (Cohen and Levinthal 1990, p. 128)) or the expectation of adopters whether critical mass will be reached. He also proposed—among others—IT group characteristics, organizational processes or characteristics being able to influence the intention to adopt. Table 2-2 summarizes the described organizational factors.

Organizational				
_	Top management support	(Chwelos et al. 2001; Premkumar et al. 1997)		
-	Size			
_	Absorptive capacity			
-	Expectation whether critical mass will be reached	(Fichman 1992)		
-	IT group characteristics			
-	Organizational processes or char- acteristics			

 Table 2-2. Organizational factors

*Environmental*. Regarding environmental factors, Fichman (1992) further proposed to measure the number of knowledge-barrier reducing institutions and competitive pressure as influencing variables. Competitive pressure was also found to be a predictor variable in the context of EDI (Chwelos et al. 2001, p. 315; Premkumar et al. 1997, pp. 115-116). Furthermore, in the context of Grid computing, network externalities and issues related to information asymmetry, risk, and unpredictability (Thanos et al. 2007, pp. 12-13) were regarded as having an important influence on the willingness to participate in a Grid environment. Thus, benefits of the technology increase with an increasing number of participants. Additionally, only incomplete information is available about other participants, which can hinder the adoption decision. In addition, the uncertainty and complexity of a company's environment (Hwang and Park 2007, p.

24) as well as interorganizational relationships, including power, dependence, trust, or climate, also pose challenges concerning the intention to adopt a technological innovation (Bensaou and Venkatraman 1996; Cavaye 1996; Clemons and Row 1993; Premkumar and Ramamurthy 1995; Reekers and Smithson 1996). Table 2-3 summarizes the described environmental factors.

Environmental				
<ul> <li>Knowledge barrier-reducing in- stitutions</li> </ul>	(Fichman 1992)			
<ul> <li>Competitive pressure</li> </ul>	(Chwelos et al. 2001; Fichman 1992; Premkumar et al. 1997)			
<ul> <li>Network externalities</li> </ul>				
<ul> <li>Information asymmetry, risk, and unpredictability</li> </ul>	(Thanos et al. 2007)			
- Uncertainty				
- Complexity	(Hwang and Park 2007)			
<ul> <li>Inter-organizational relation- ships</li> </ul>	(Bensaou and Venkatraman 1996; Cavaye 1996; Clemons and Row 1993; Premkumar and Ramamurthy 1995; Reek- ers and Smithson 1996)			
• Power				
• Dependence				
• Trust				
Climate				

Table 2-3. Environmental factors

# 2.3.3 Key Issues in Grid Computing

As can be concluded from the previous section, technological and (perceived) security issues pose an important influential factor in the context of Grid computing and the hindrance of adoption in commercial environments.

In addition, a necessary requirement for the commercialization of Grid computing is also the necessity to express the value of its resources (Buyya et al. 2005, p. 699) and the corresponding costs. Therefore, cost models and incentives—inter alia—need to be examined (Altmann et al. 2007, p. 30). Since the Total Cost of Ownershipmodel of the Gartner group has gained much attention over the past years (Wild and

Herges 2000, p. 4), this cost model will be examined in the context of Grid computing.

Therefore, the economic challenges (in terms of Total Cost of Ownership and Quality of Service) and the perceived security issues in the Grid computing environment will be examined in more detail and theoretical propositions will be derived consequently.

#### 2.3.3.1 Total Cost of Ownership and Quality of Service

Management accounting "measures, analyzes, and reports financial and nonfinancial information that helps managers make decisions to fulfill the goals of an organization" (Horngren et al. 2006, p. 2). On the other hand, cost accounting is a function of management accounting in providing the necessary information related to "acquiring or using resources in an organization" (Horngren et al. 2006, p. 2). Thus, several key success factors determine a company's ability to deliver increasing performance levels: cost and efficiency, quality, time, and innovation.

However, managers can only decide accurately based on sound information. Therefore, a thorough cost accumulation is necessary. Regarding IT-related costs, the technological change from mainframes to client-server-architectures induced the necessity for changes in management accounting. Although direct costs (e.g. software or hardware costs, costs for employee training, or maintenance costs) can be retrieved from the accounting systems, indirect costs (e.g. costs induced through productivity losses, downtimes, or private usage) can amount to 55% of all total costs (Gadatsch and Mayer 2006, pp. 90-91) and were not represented in any management system in the past.

In 1987, the Gartner group, therefore, presented their first Total Cost of Ownership concept (TCO) which is based on a lifecycle examination of IT assets (Treber et al. 2004, p. 12) in order to make indirect costs more transparent (David et al. 2002, pp. 101-102; Gadatsch and Mayer 2006, p. 91). A specific IT-based chart of accounts lists all direct and indirect costs more transparent than it would be possible with traditional cost accounting systems. With this more specific cost information, it was possible to derive better recommendations for further and more accurate cost savings. Originally

developed for evaluating the costs of personal computers, the concept was gradually deployed to further contexts (Wild and Herges 2000, p. 3).

Although the Gartner concept was originally developed for presenting the drastic shifts from direct to indirect costs and did not constitute a controlling tool literally, it was gradually enhanced to become a tool for cost measurement and cost management (Treber et al. 2004, p. 20). Although the TCO concept had a fundamental role within the cost accounting field as it constituted the first IT-specific cost model, it was strongly criticized for its cost orientation without considering the benefits-perspective. This, however, led to the development of the first IT-specific total value concept (Wild and Herges 2000, pp. 29-30) and further concepts trying to combine the TCO cost perspective with a value-based return-on-investment (ROI) perspective. However, TCO is not to be seen as an antipode to ROI, but as a necessary requirement to delineate costs for evaluating investments (Treber et al. 2004, p. 47).

Thus, as several TCO concepts and enhancements exist driven by commercial interests of the respective consultancy, no common understanding and standard has yet been developed (Treber et al. 2004, p. 40). Therefore, I will consider TCO as a tool for mapping and managing IT costs in the following. A value-based evaluation has to be subject of further controlling tools. A comprehensive overview of the TCO topic, its development, the enhancements, and the delineation of different TCO concepts is given in Treber et al. (2004).

*TCO and Grid Computing*. The arising possibilities and a new flexibility that was introduced through distributed computing—in contrast to mainframes—led to an increasing complexity within IT infrastructures. Paradoxically, the total cost of ownership gradually increased (Sterritt 2005, p. 79; Treber et al. 2004, p. 15). However, competitive pressures within a company's environment constantly forces managers to reduce costs and increase efficiency. Therefore, server consolidation or outsourcing constitute potential cost savings (Abbas 2004, pp. 24-25). In this context, Grid computing is viewed to be a technology for horizontally integrating server architectures, which, thus, leads to increased utilization rates and reduced costs (Carr 2005).

Nevertheless, a service-oriented approach and the horizontal integration of hardware will lead to less accuracy in cost allocation. As many applications and processes

will resort to one single hardware infrastructure, the accruing costs will not be directly mappable to corresponding benefits with existing cost allocation systems. Therefore, Göhner et al. (2006) developed a first approach for an activity-based costing within the Grid computing sphere.

Although several systems for trading resources have been built so far (including "commodity-market models, posted price models, bargaining models, tendering, or contract-net models, auction models, bid-based proportional resource sharing models, cooperative bartering models, as well as monopoly and oligopoly" (Buyya et al. 2005, p. 699)), there is still a huge need for evaluating Grid resources. As the TCO concept was originally developed for distributed systems, the question arises if TCO are also applicable within the scope of Grid computing. Therefore, the following propositions were derived from the aforementioned elaborations:

Proposition 1: TCO concepts are deployed since being important for the evaluation of the profitability of IT investments

Proposition 2: TCO concepts in their actual form are not sufficient for the deployment in Grid computing

Proposition 3: Grid computing can be used for reducing TCO

TCO can unfavorably affect service levels (David et al. 2002, p. 102). Thus, for example, the reduction of costs might reduce the quality at the same time as the number of staff might be reduced. Therefore, the challenge arises to reduce costs and keep the offered service on the same level or even increase service at the same time. As a high QoS is necessary for a "satisfactory user-experience" (Joseph et al. 2004, p. 624), service level agreements are an important tool for customers being able to judge the Quality of Service within a Grid environment (McKee et al. 2007, p. 59). Research proposes that Grid computing can increase the Quality of Service. Therefore:

Proposition 4: Grid computing can be used to increase the Quality of Service (QoS)

#### 2.3.3.2 Security Issues

Furthermore, for a successful adoption of Grid technologies, security services play a decisive role amongst an adequate infrastructure, applications, and portals (Joseph and Fellenstein 2004, p. 30). Especially when intending to reduce costs through outsourcing, one has to deal with security and trust issues in Grid environments (Abbas 2004, pp. 57, 273-274). In fact, these trust issues have not been solved or eliminated yet, especially in "open and shared computing environment[s]" (Hwang and Park 2007, p. 26) as for example virtual organizations.

However, from our perspective, the general term security comprises both hard and soft security aspects (Rasmusson and Jansson 1996). Hard security protections mostly cover technical solutions for keeping malicious parties out of a system (e.g. firewalls, authentication, etc.). Once in the system, uncertainties and incomplete information arise. Therefore, soft security mechanisms as trust (the willingness of an individual to rely on another party (Jøsang et al. 2007, p. 4)) and reputation ("what is generally said or believed about a person's or thing's character or standing" (Jøsang et al. 2007, p. 5)) become necessary. More detailed definitions and delineations of the aforementioned terms can be found in Appendix B. Yet, both hard and soft security issues challenge the Grid environment. Hence:

Proposition 5: Security aspects are important for companies' internal and external usage of Grid computing

Thus, security is one of the most important determinants for the adoption and diffusion of Grid technologies, with which standard bodies and vendors particularly deal with (Abbas 2004, p. 57). Because of the Grid's nature to deal with geographically distributed resources from divergent security domains, security mechanisms are already build into the resource layer of the Grid architecture. Nevertheless, the challenges to secure a Grid environment become even more complicated since varied stakeholder interests—e.g. consumers, service providers, resource owners—influence the requirements for Grids.

Plaszczak and Wellner (2006, p. 154) show that the necessary technical security tools are already available. Humphrey et al. (2005) also provide a general overview of

the different advancements concerning trust-, policy as well as authorizationmanagement in Grid environments. Though, securing very sensitive data in the Grid remains being very difficult (Abbas 2004, p. 274) as the modeling of security methods for sensitive data is still at its very beginning (Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, pp. 154-155).

Intragrids do not raise special security risks (Eymann et al. 2008; Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, p. 189) as they are situated within company boundaries and a strong control exists. Inter- and open Grids have to be assembled carefully (Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, p. 189). Yet, today's security mechanisms used inherit similar or even worse security concerns. Nevertheless, security concerns are among the most important reasons that hinder the deployment of Grid solutions (Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, p. 177); and most of these concerns are rather based on belief than on actual arguments. As security in Grid environments are of complex nature:

Proposition 6: Security concerns hinder the deployment of externally sourced IT services

Grid computing is mostly seen as enabler for other applications and benefits since being suited on architectural level and offering needed technical standards. Therefore, no customer need in itself exists for Grid computing but for the services that can be created with Grid technologies (Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, p. 197; Sainio and Porras 2006). In addition, the standardization of services can reduce information asymmetry in open markets (Eymann et al. 2008, pp. 8-9). Hence:

Proposition 7: Grid computing is more suitable for standardized services than individual services

In the previously mentioned dynamic environment of virtual organizations, specific security challenges emerge (Foster et al. 1998; Welch et al. 2003). Humphrey et al. (2005) group these challenges into four distinct categories: naming and authentication; secure communication; trust, policy, and authorization; as well as enforcement of access control. In addition, theoretical and technical steps have been taken to introduce trust in uncertain environments. For example, Cahill et al. (2003) introduce the

human notion of trust in order to derive a decentralized security management approach. Moreover, Brinkløv and Sharp (2007) describe a first approach of technically introducing behavioral trust into open Grid systems. Yet, as explained before, these approaches mainly comprise technological solutions. Examining corporate attitudes regarding trust and reputation in order to obtain a better insight into the individuals' beliefs and fears towards soft security aspects will therefore be in the focus.

As trust between trading partners is important (Premkumar et al. 1997, p. 111), feedback rating respectively reputation systems (Jøsang et al. 2007; Resnick and Zeckhauser 2002) represent a possible solution for reducing uncertainty in onlineauctions (Standifird 2002) and within uncertain environments as the Internet. Reputation systems especially offer the possibility to systematically distribute information on the past behavior of market actors (Resnick and Zeckhauser 2002). Within an open Grid market, we, therefore, propose that:

Proposition 8: Feedback rating systems are important for the selection of IT service providers

As open systems rely on social control (Rasmusson and Jansson 1996), actors are welcome as long as they do not harm other participants. Therefore, the participants are responsible for providing the security themselves. However, there is no economic incentive to provide feedback on transactions and experiences. Nevertheless, more than half of the transactions' participants on eBay did provide feedback (Resnick and Zeckhauser 2002). I, therefore, propose:

Proposition 9: No differences exist between passive and active usage of public feedback rating systems

#### 2.3.3.3 Further Requirements for an open Grid market

In order to develop a platform for trading open Grid resources, further requirements become necessary, apart from cost models and security-issues. Firstly, standards play an important role in the use of information technology as they enable interoperability of applications and resources (Hofmann and Beaumont 2005, pp. 279-280). Still,
standards represent a compromise between business interests, proprietary solutions, and technical possibilities.

Especially Foster and affiliated researchers have proposed that open standards are fundamental to the development of Grid computing (Foster 2002; Foster and Tuecke 2005, p. 33). Grid computing depends on the communication of different services of any party and thus is a key success factor in order to create interoperability between different systems and infrastructures. Therefore, only one agreed standard (e.g. OGSA) seems reasonable rather than just one middleware solution (Hwang and Park 2007, p. 26). As OGSA already incorporates Web services, it will be interesting to see which other standards companies use for internal and external data exchange and which of them is the most prevalent standard.

Furthermore, since Grid computing technologies offer the possibility of using diverse applications, a seamless integration of resources is necessary for the Grid user (Kwon et al. 2004, p. 48). In the context of e-business as well as fast moving and highly competitive markets, Kalakota and Robinson (2001, pp. 56-57, 143) view the integration of services and the underlying infrastructure as a key to success. Only a seamless integration of applications can therefore serve the customer efficiently and satisfyingly. Business-to-business (B2B) collaboration—which is one form of a virtual organization—also has a high demand of resource integration (Foster et al. 2002b, p. 7) as contemporary B2B-solutions are rather concerned with information sharing (Foster et al. 2001, p. 201).

Additionally, so-called "eUtilities" (Foster et al. 2002b, p. 6) recently emerged offering the possibility of integrating outsourced IT-services with in-house IT infrastructures. But the demand for business process integration and the integration of legacy systems poses a high burden especially on large companies (Kalakota and Robinson 2001, p. 144). Nevertheless, the goal for aggregating distributed resources remains a key objective (Parashar and Lee 2005, p. 481). Therefore:

Proposition 10: A high integration of Grid computing applications into existing implementations is important

Moreover, according to Kwon et al. (2004, p. 48), the details of the Grid computing infrastructure should be hidden from the user who is rather interested in the execution of applications and the final results. Therefore:

Proposition 11: External services should be accessed transparently

Table 2-4 gives a concise overview of all propositions.

# Table 2-4. Overview of propositions

Propositions	

Proposition 1	TCO concepts are deployed since being important for the evaluation of the profitability of IT investments
Proposition 2	TCO concepts in their actual form are not sufficient for the deployment in Grid computing
Proposition 3	Grid computing can be used for reducing TCO
Proposition 4	Grid computing can be used to increase the Quality of Service (QoS)
Proposition 5	Security aspects are important for companies' internal and ex- ternal usage of Grid computing
Proposition 6	Security concerns hinder the deployment of externally sourced IT services
Proposition 7	Grid computing is more suitable for standardized services than individual services
Proposition 8	Feedback rating systems are important for the selection of IT service providers
Proposition 9	No differences exist between passive and active usage of pub- lic feedback rating systems
Proposition 10	A high integration of Grid computing applications into exist- ing implementations is important
Proposition 11	External services should be accessed transparently

# 3 Research Methodology

The Grid computing environment is hardly explored empirically concerning the aforementioned key challenges. The Chair of Information Systems at the University of Bayreuth therefore developed a lead questionnaire from the presented propositions. The aim of the conducted explorative study is to yield first insights into the existing Grid market regarding the aforementioned key challenges and the corporate attitudes towards Grid computing. Subsequently, hypotheses of possible determinants for the construction of an open Grid market platform will be derived. Therefore, the goal of the conducted research is generalizing to theory (Kerlinger 1976, pp. 8-10), not to any specific population.

#### 3.1 Operationalization of Questionnaire

For each theoretically derived proposition from Ch. 2.3.3 two items were constructed in the questionnaire. A five point Likert scale ("strongly agree" to "strongly disagree") was used in order to measure the items. The response categories will be abridged with the following abbreviations: "SA" = strongly agree; "A" = agree; "N" = neutral; "D" = disagree; and "SD" = strongly disagree. In addition to the mentioned theoretical questions, further items and control variables were deemed desirable for collecting further information on the attitude towards Grid computing and its requirements. For a detailed description of all items, see Appendix D.2.

Firstly, the knowledge about Grid computing and a possible positive influence on the attitude induced by the usage of Grid technologies was surveyed with items d1a1 (I'm familiar with the idea of Grid computing) and d1a2 (Grid computing infrastructures are already being used in my enterprise). In fact, variables d1a1 and d1a2 were counted as control variables since only company representatives with prior knowledge of Grid computing could have answered the questionnaire assiduously. Furthermore, the use of Grid computing constitutes a possible pro-innovation bias that has to be controlled for.

In addition to the items regarding the propositions, the mentioned further requirements from Ch. 2.3.3.3 were translated into questionnaire items. Consequently, item d2e1 asked for the used standards in the respondent's company. The offered options for possible communication standards were SOA standards, Web Services, CORBA (Common Object Request Broker Architecture), individual XML (Extensible Markup Language) messages, EDI (Electronic Data Interchange), IDoc (Intermediate Document), Java Messages, Component-based messages, and others. Multiple options were selectable. The option others was set up as open text field.

Proposition 10 formed item d2e2 (A high integration of grid computing applications into existing implementations is important). Proposition 11 was measured through item d2e3 (External services should be accessed transparently).

As Grid computing was described as being a promising enhancement of the Internet and led to a hype in research, the perceived future of Grid computing within the IT sector and within one's business was measured with items d3a1 and d3a2 respectively.

A first demographic item was d3b1 asking for the sector in which a company is situated. A text field was offered to the respondents for answering this question. In addition, d3b2 measured the size of the company by asking for the number of employees. Six options were offered: 1-10, 11-50, 51-250, 251-500, 501-1000, >1000. Moreover, the respondents were asked for the department they work in (d3b3). The response was recordable in a parameter-free text field. Furthermore, three options were selectable for the role each company has within the Grid computing market (d3b4): IT-service provider, IT-service consumer, and IT-application provider. An additional text field offered the possibility to indicate a role that was not mentioned in the questionnaire. As companies can have several roles at the same time, multiple options were selectable. Furthermore, the country of origin was asked for with item d3b5.

# 3.2 Data Collection

In order to derive valuable results and apply them to open Grids, it is necessary to examine the attitude of companies and institutions that are already familiar with Grid

computing. However, as it remains unclear which companies specifically use Grid computing already, existing research communities on Grid computing were chosen for the study.

As this explorative study is conducted as pre-study in order to derive in-depth insights and hypotheses, an online survey constituted an inexpensive and fast solution to consult the geographically distributed research communities.

Furthermore, since Grid solutions still need dedicated and experienced people for their deployment and usage (Parashar and Lee 2005, p. 481), it was assumed that participants in Grid communities are spokesmen of their company leading the research development in these companies and taking part in the important research communities on Grid computing. In turn, these company representatives act as proxy for their organization and its attitude towards Grid computing.

With the already described market structure and its broad variety of Grid networks, contacts within several research communities were collected. Starting at the beginning of October 2007, an e-mail was sent out to the coordinator of each community requesting them to support our study in filling in the online questionnaire and asking them to forward this request to all the partners of their research group. An overview of contacted research networks is given in Table 3-1. If an answer was retrieved from the coordinator with the confirmation that our request was forwarded or this fact could be elicited from the questionnaire answer sheets, the respective network was marked accordingly as being surveyed.

Network	Surveyed
BEinGRID	
Activity 2	
BREIN	
D-Grid 2	
AeroGrid	
BauVOGrid	
BIS-Grid	
Biz2Grid	
D-Mon	
F&L-Grid	
Fin-Grid	
GDI-Grid	
InGrid	
MediGRID	
PartnerGrid	
ProGrid	
SuGI	
SORMA	
NextGrid	

Table 3-1. Surveyed Grid computing research networks

Thirty-three answers were received. With 137 project partners in these networks, this constitutes a response rate of 24%. Excluding missing values in the data sets, the response rate decreases to 18%.

# 3.3 Data Preparation

After the collection, the data had to be prepared for the analysis. Thus, the final analysis only includes 24 responses due to missing values. This reduces the sample size significantly but will in turn facilitate the calculation of inter-item correlations, for example, for which an equal number of responses—without missing values—is needed. In addition, d1b2 was also excluded for the analysis, as two additional responses would have to be excluded although all other questions were answered. D1a1 served as control variable to exclude answers if the respondents were not familiar with Grid computing. This was not the case. Nevertheless, d1a1 was only used for the description of the sample characteristics.

Also, while describing and analyzing the data, percentages will be rounded to the nearest integer in order not to feign inappropriate accuracy (Ehrenberg 1976, pp. 58-59). Percentages, therefore, might not add up to 100% in each case.

The five-step Likert-scale, with which each item was measured, will be reduced to a three-step scale in the analysis. Thus, "strongly agree" and "agree" form the category of a positive answer ("+"); "disagree" and "strongly disagree" will be conflated to form the category of a negative answer ("-"). The category "neutral" ("o") remains unaltered. Only within the examination of correlations, I will resort to the five-step scale in order to verify a linear tendency between two items. In all other cases, this level of detail is not necessary for our analysis.

Since the questionnaire did not offer a pre-defined structure for the respondents to record the industrial sector of their company, the responses were clustered after the data collection according to the European industry standard classification system NACE (Nomenclature des activités économiques dans la Communauté Européenne) (European Commission 2008). Companies were classified by their core business. For example, a software development company for the construction sector would, thus, be subsumed under the NACE code "K.72.22 Other software consultancy and supply". For simplification reasons, a synonym for the NACE classifications was derived and thus used in the following. The respective NACE codes and their synonyms can be found in Table E-1 in the Appendix.

Furthermore, the companies were divided into private and public sectors by analyzing the responses to the industrial sector (d3b1). Public or similar institutions in this study are universities and its departments, research institutions (e.g. Fraunhofer institute), data center, and hospitals (similar to Forge and Blackman 2006; here "academia and research" will be subsumed as "public sector"; Plaszczak and Wellner 2006, pp. 72-73).

## 3.4 Methodology of Analysis

## 3.4.1 Ordinal Scale

It should be noted that measuring in social sciences is limited to observing attributes and characteristics of an object and not the object as a whole. Associated with this is the need for allotting numbers to the respective measuring procedure in an orderly manner (Bortz 1999, pp. 17-18), which is subject of the measure theory and will not be covered in detail in this work. Still, this theory bears upon this research, its measurements and the corresponding analysis to be undertaken.

Although metric-scales inhere various possibilities of calculating expected values and deriving linear or functional coherences, nominal- or ordinal-scaled data do not allow such projections (Hartung et al. 1999, p. 407). Likert-scales, strictly speaking, form part of ordinal measuring scales (Babbie 1995, p. 177) and are—from a mere statistical point of view—consequently limited in their analysis. In behavioral sciences, however, varied interpretations of this fact exist. Yet, taking on a liberal perspective in presuming interval-scaled data and respectively using all corresponding analyzing tools in practice has enriched the theory of the measured object significantly (Bortz 1999, pp. 27-29).

Nevertheless, the quantity of retained responses, missing values and the manner of sampling restrict this procedure in this study. Therefore, analyzing the descriptive data, distributions and correlations while interpreting the Likert-scale as ordinal-scale appears to produce more well-founded insights and promises more reliable results.

### 3.4.2 Correlations

As this is one of the first empirical studies concerning TCO concepts and security issues, I am mostly interested in exploring associations within the measured items. Therefore, the correlation coefficient is a feasible tool. Correlations depict how strong two variables are linearly related to one another. However, it is important to take a look at a scatter plot (see Figure A-1, p. 89) to verify whether a linear relation does indeed exist or if other patterns prevail. In the analysis, a look at the underlying data will also be taken in order to verify the scatter plot results.

In the analysis, I will use Kendall's rang correlation  $\tau$  (Abdi 2007; Siegel 1956, pp. 213-223) as the used scale was interpreted as ordinal scale. Pearson's productmoment correlation does, therefore, not apply in this study as it calculates a linear association between two interval-scaled variables that are normally distributed (Siegel 1956, p. 213).

A convention of classifying correlations (Table 3-2) is given in Cohen (1988, pp. 79-81):

Table 3-2. Convention of classifying correlations (based on: Cohen 1988, pp. 79-81)

Correlation	Positive	Negative
Small	0.10 to 0.29	-0.10 to -0.29
Medium	0.30 to 0.49	-0.30 to -0.49
Large	0.50 to 1.00	-0.50 to -1.00

All correlation coefficients are displayed in Appendix F.1 (p. 105). In the following, only significant correlations at the 0.05- or 0.01-level will be considered and described. All significances were calculated as two-tailed since no definite direction of impact was predetermined.

# 3.4.3 Non-parametric Tests

As private and public sector as well as company size (i.e. SMEs and enterprises) constitute variates, the question of independence between these groups and their answering patterns arises. For this purpose, parametric and non-parametric tests are being used.

However, parametric tests are always bound to specific statistical requirements and restrictions. These conditions include certain forms of distribution in the underlying population or its parameters. Although further tests were developed to check the applicability of the necessary population characteristics from the sample, these tests are also bound to parametric preconditions. In case of small samples and doubts in using parametric tests, using non-parametric tests is advised. (Bortz and Lienert 2003, p. 59)

Although the  $\chi^2$ -distribution is an important test distribution, it is only applicable if  $N \to \infty$  as it then approximates to the  $\chi^2$  distribution (Bortz and Lienert 2003, p. 47). In addition, the data has to be drawn by random sampling (Janssen and Laatz 2005, p. 255). An acceptable approximation using the  $\chi^2$ -test is supposed with a minimum of five responses per cell (Baltes-Götz 2007, p. 164). With samples between 20 and 60, usually a revised  $\chi^2$ -test by Yates is used for testing the independence of variables in contingency tables (Hartung et al. 1999, p. 414). However, if strong asymmetries in the contingency table occur (Hartung et al. 1999, p. 414) or cells with less than five responses exist—as is the case in this research; even after reducing the scales to only two or three categories—tests based on the  $\chi^2$ -distribution do not produce valid results and exact tests are advised.

Hence, Fisher's exact test can be employed as it does not suppose any approximation but utilizes the actually occurring distribution. As Fisher's exact test can only be employed for 2x2 tables, a generalized test of independence for 3x2 tables (Freeman-Halton test) will be applied first (Bortz and Lienert 2003, pp. 92-93; Hartung et al. 1999, pp. 414-415). Subsequently, the three-step scale will be reduce to two categories in order to deploy Fisher's exact test. Thus, as all items were formulated positively, the category neutral ("o") will be collapsed with the negative category ("-"). Fisher's test then allows formulating one-tailed hypotheses that can be tested for significance. Thus, directional hypotheses could be derived in the following.

Yet, the following tests of independence are explorative tests of significance. They are, therefore, not to be confounded with hypothesis testing. In the latter case, the research hypothesis (a-priori hypothesis) has to be defined before the survey instrument will be developed and the questionnaire is conducted. Nevertheless, quantitative explorative studies permit to compute significance tests if interesting effects can be observed. However, these tests on trial can—in no case—serve as an explication for a hypothesis as every event can be easily explained afterwards, but rather as a tool to verify if the effect that was pinpointed is rather significant in order to prepare further, more detailed hypotheses (Bortz and Döring 2006, pp. 379-380).

Moreover, directional and non-directional hypotheses have to be distinguished. A directional hypothesis postulates in which direction two variables are, for example,

positively or negatively correlated. The non-directional hypothesis, on the other hand, would only state that a relation between these two variables exists. Directional hypothesis, though, are more precise and, thus, constitute a more desirable research proposition (Bortz and Döring 2006, pp. 7-8).

When testing for hypothesis, Type I and Type II errors can be committed. Rejecting the  $H_0$  although being true is a Type I error with the probability of p (*Type I*) =  $\alpha$ . Consequently, committing a Type II error with a probability of p (*Type I*) =  $\beta$  means accepting  $H_0$  although it should be rejected. In turn, 1- $\beta$  determines the power of the test, which increases with an increasing sample size. (Siegel 1956, pp. 8-11)

Apart from the size of the sample, a fourth variable is the effect  $\varepsilon$  determining in behavioral science if the tested effect is small, medium or large (Bortz and Lienert 2003). Before testing, three variables have to be defined in advance determining, in turn, the fourth. In research practice,  $\alpha$ =0.05 and  $\beta$ =0.80 are acceptable values. With the drawn sample, the effect is then the determined factor.

Another way of analyzing discrete data can be undertaken by exploring contingency tables. The analysis in this section will mainly rely on contingency tables and nonparametric tests. Only a small sample from the relatively small and hard-to-grasp community of Grid technology users was retained. Especially the section about business issues is missing a high degree of values. In addition, this study is one of the first quantitative approaches to obtaining insights into the attitude of businesses and research institutions towards Grid computing. Therefore, nonparametric tests constitute the best choice for analyzing this data for interconnections (Siegel 1956, p. vii).

In this research, only one sample was drawn from the research framework. Hence, company size (i.e. SME versus enterprises) as well as the category of private versus public sector can be considered as variates (Hartung et al. 1999, p. 412). Consequently, I am interested in analyzing the dependencies between these two groups separately. An overview of all responses and their allocation into these categories can be found in the Appendix (Table F-2; p. 106). In the following only interesting or strong differences between the groups will be examined in detail.

# 4 **Results**

The survey results were analyzed with the statistical software programm SPSS 15.0 for Windows® and Microsoft Excel 2003®. Figures and Tables in this thesis were also constructed with these programmes.

## 4.1 Sample Characteristics

All of the respondents were familiar with Grid computing (d1a1). Thereof, 46% use Grid computing already in their own business. Twenty-nine percent have not yet implemented Grid technologies and the remaining 25% are undecided (d1a2).

In addition, the Grid experts were able to select in which of the three categories— IT-service provider, application provider or IT-service consumer—their company could be classified (d3b4). Multiple answers were possible. Thus, 46% of the responding companies and institutions represented IT-service provider, the category application provider subsumed 50% of the sample and 38% are IT-service consumer. Some company representatives also reported to be Grid infrastructure provider, broker, or consultant.

Clustering the responses by NACE codes yielded the clustering according to industrial sectors shown in Figure 4-1. Thus, the sectors health, software development, and consulting are the most represented sectors with 21% each; followed by the research sector with 13%. Eight percent of the respondents were from the automotive sector. Moreover, the sectors air transport, telecommunications, university, and finance / banking were each represented with 4% in the survey.



Figure 4-1. Industrial Sectors (Source: Author)

After separating public and private institutions, 71% of the respondents were from the private sector. The remaining 29% worked in public institutions.

According to the recommendation of the European Commission (European Commission 2003), SMEs employ less than 250 workers. Table 4-1 thus shows that over 50% of the respondents fall into this category regarding company size (d3b2). Slightly less can be categorized as large-scale enterprises (referred to as "enterprises" in the following).

Table 4-1. Responses by company size according to employment

Compan	y Size	<b>SME</b> (%)				Large-Scale Enterprise (%)				
(# of Employees)		1-10	11-50	51-250	_	251-500	501-1000	>1000		
Number	N=24	0	29	25		8	4	33		
Total	100%		54				46			

According to the country of origin (d3b5), the majority of responses were received from Germany (70%). Spain and Israel were represented by 8% each. Italy, Pakistan and the United Kingdom complete the sample by 4% each.

# 4.2 Univariate Analysis

Primarily, the descriptive data will be analyzed item by item. Subsequently, bivariate analyses will examine inter-item dependencies.

|--|

	Items	Frequencies (%)				
	(N=24)	+	0	-		
d1b1	Total Cost of Ownership concepts are being used in my business in order to evaluate the efficiency of IT investments.	71	17	13		
d1c2	TCO-calculations are of major importance in my business. (N=22)	50	33	8		
d1c1	TCO concepts are sufficient for the evaluation and the management of IT-costs.	38	33	29		
d1c2	TCO concepts are sufficient for the evaluation and the management of Grid computing expenditures.	21	13	67		
d1d1	Grid computing has the potential to reduce the TCO.	71	25	4		
d1d2	The intention to reduce TCO justifies the use of Grid computing applications in my business.	58	25	17		
d1e1	Grid computing has the potential to improve the Quality of Service (QoS).	46	29	25		
d1e2	The intention to increase the QoS justifies the use of Grid computing applications in my business.	54	13	33		
d2a1	Security has a high priority when using in-house IT-services.	88	0	13		
d2a2	Security has a high priority when using external IT-services.	100	0	0		
d2b1	Security concerns are an obstacle for the acquisition of IT-services by an external service provider.	63	33	4		
d2b2	Security concerns are an obstacle for the acquisition of IT-services by a department service provider.	21	33	46		
d2c1	Grid computing applications are suitable for offering standardized services.	71	21	8		
d2c2	Grid computing applications are suitable for offering customized services.	46	25	29		
d2d1	Information about the past behaviour of external IT-service providers is important for the service selection.	88	13	0		
d2d2	I would use publicly accessible information (e.g. in form of an ebay-like evaluation system) for the service selection.	50	42	8		
d2d3	I would publicly make available my personal experience regarding trustworthiness of service providers.	38	50	13		
d2e2	A high integration of grid computing applications into existing implementations is important.	83	17	0		
d2e3	External services should be accessed transparently.	83	17	0		
d3a1	In the future, Grid computing will play a decisive role in the IT sector.	75	21	4		
d3a2	In the future, Grid computing will play a decisive role in my business.	58	33	8		

*d1b1*. Total Cost of Ownership concepts are used in nearly 71% of the surveyed companies and institutions. Thirteen percent disagree and 17% do not exactly know if their companies make use of TCO (see Table 4-2).

*dlc1 and dlc2*. The answering pattern for question dlc1 is not that distinct. Thirtythree percent of the respondents are indifferent or unsure, 29% disagree with this statement, whereas 38% agree that TCO concepts are sufficient for the evaluation and the management of IT-costs.

A different situation can be seen regarding TCO concepts for evaluating and managing Grid computing resources (d1c2). Sixty-seven percent of all respondents do not believe that TCO concepts are sufficient in that respect. Only 21% agree, 13% are indifferent.

*d1d1 and d1d2*. Seventy-one percent believe that Grid computing has the potential to reduce the Total Cost of Ownership (d1d1). On the contrary, 4% disagree and 25% are not in favor of either side.

Fifty-eight percent infer that the intention to reduce the TCO justifies the use of Grid technologies (d1d2). Twenty-five percent were diffident in assenting or dissenting to this statement whereas 17% objected the expression.

*d1e1 and d1e2*. Regarding the potential of Grid computing to reduce the QoS, 46% perceive this being the case while 25% oppose to this statement. Twenty-nine percent are indifferent in this case.

Fifty-four percent agree that the potential of increasing the QoS justifies using Grid computing applications in their business. On the other hand, 33% rejected this statement. Only 13% remain unsure.

*d2a1 and d2a2*. For using in-house IT-services, the majority of 88% believes that security aspects have a high priority (d2a1). In contrast, 13% disagree with this proposition. All of the respondents agreed on security being very important when using external IT services (d2a2).

*d2b1 and d2b2*. While acquiring IT services by an external service provider, 63% view security as a possible obstacle in this process (d2b1). Thirty-three percent are hesitant, only 4% object security being an obstacle for external IT services.

For IT services acquired from in-house service providers, 21% view security as an obstacle (d2b2), 33% are indecisive leaving 46% rejecting the statement.

*d2c1 and d2c2*. Concerning the range of the possible applicability of Grid computing technologies, 71% accredit Grid computing being suitable for offering standardized services (d2c1). Only 8% of the surveyed companies deny this capability. However, 21% remain undecided.

The proposition that Grid computing applications are suitable for customized services (d2c2) is supported by 46%. Unsure of agreeing or disagreeing were 25%. Twenty-nine percent still challenged the suitability in this case.

*d2d1, d2d2 and d2d3.* The vast majority of 88% complies with information about the past behavior of external IT-service providers being important for the service selection (d2d1). None of the respondents contested the statement, only 13% were unsure.

For the service selection, 50% would make use of publicly accessible information (e.g. in form of an eBay-like evaluation system) (d2d2). Eight percent would not use these information and forty-two percent considered remaining neutral towards this statement.

Of all the respondents, 38% would publicize their personal experiences regarding the trustworthiness of service providers. On the other hand, 13% would not announce such information publicly. The remaining fifty percent stay diffident.

*d2e1.* Among the eight mentioned technical standards (Web Services, individual XML messages, SOA standards, CORBA, Java messages, component-based messages, EDI, and IDoc), Web Services were the most commonly used method. Ninety-two percent responded to utilize Web Services for internal and external communication in their company (Figure 4-2). Individual XML messages were exploited by 71%, followed by SOA standards (63%). CORBA and Java messages share fourth place with both 42%. Moreover, 25% of the surveyed businesses and institutions use com-

ponent-based messages respectively EDI. Only a minority of 13% interchanges data in business transactions with IDoc.

Some of the respondents also mentioned OGC® (Open Geospatial Consortium) Web services, HL7 (Health Level 7) as well as CDISC (Clinical Data Interchange Standards Consortium) as used standards for internal and external communication in their businesses.



Figure 4-2. Technical standards used for data interchange (Source: Author)

*d2e2*. Concerning the integration of Grid computing into already existing implementations, 83% believe that a high degree of integration is important; in contrast to 17% who remain uncertain. None of the respondents denies a certain importance of integrating Grid computing into the existing architecture.

*d2e3*. Eighty-three percent also consider accessing external services transparently as being important. None of the company representatives disagreed, only 17% were uncertain.

*d3a1 and d3a2*. As regards the future of Grid computing, 75% of the companies assume that Grid computing will play a decisive role in the IT sector (d3a1). Twenty-one percent were hesitant and a small minority (4%) did not imagine such an important impact of the technology on the IT sector.

Moreover, Grid computing will play a decisive role in their companies (d3a2) say 58%. Eight percent negate this proposition, whereas 33% were rather undecided.

# 4.3 Bivariate Analysis

# 4.3.1 Correlations

An overview of all inter-item correlations is to be found in Table F-1 (p. 105) in the Appendix. As d1a1 and d1b2 were considered control variables respectively were excluded from the univariate analysis, both items therefore do not appear in the bivariate analysis. However, although both d1a2 and d1b1 were also conceived as control variables, correlations to these items might reveal interesting insights into interconnections.

*d1b1 and d2b2*. If companies use TCO (d1b1), then 55% think that these concepts are very important (d1b2; see Table 4-3). Only 5% reject this statement for their business and 18% are neutral. If the respondents were not sure if TCO was used in their company, they also reported the same for the importance in their company (14%). On the contrary, those companies that do not use TCO concepts also reject a high importance in their company (5%) or remain undecided (5%). The two additional respondents that were excluded in this analysis were either unsure if the TCO concept was employed or do not use TCO.

 Table 4-3. Importance of TCO concepts (d1b1 and d1b2)



Here, two more responses were excluded for an equal number of responses for each item. The percentages are based on twenty-two answers. Integers represent rounded percentages

*d1a2 and d1b1*. A significant medium correlation ( $\tau$ =0.44; p<0.05) can be found between using Grid technologies (d1a2) and employing TCO concepts in one's own

business (d1b1). Though, since both of the variables were treated as control variables, the correlation was calculated from a reduced three-step scale ("+", "o", and "-").

 Table 4-4. Inter-item frequencies between d1a2 and d1b1. Integers represent rounded percentages

Item	IS		d1b1	
N=2	4	+	0	-
d1a2	+	38	25	8
	0	4	0	13
	-	4	0	8

Therefore, observing the underlying numbers (Table 4-4) or the scatter plot (see Figure A-1, p. 89), one realizes that the responses are more diverse and less linearly related than the correlation coefficient would suggest at first sight. Still, the majority of 38% of Grid users also utilizes TCO concepts.

*d1a2 and d1d1 / d1d2*. d1d1 ( $\tau$ =0.63; p<0.01) respectively d1d2 ( $\tau$ =0.62; p<0.01) are highly correlated with d1a2. The scatter plot and the numbers (Table 4-5) somewhat support the tendency towards a linear relation between these items.

 Table 4-5. Inter-item frequencies between d1a2 and d1d1 respectively d1d2. Integers represent rounded percentages

Item	ıs			d1d1				d1d2				
N=2	4	SA	Α	Ν	D	SD	_	SA	А	Ν	D	SD
d1a2	+	 29	8	4	4	0	-	21	13	8	4	0
	0	0	17	8	0	0		0	4	13	8	0
	-	0	4	13	4	8		4	4	8	8	4

dla2 and dle1 / dle2. The correlation coefficient depicts a medium correlation ( $\tau$ =0.42; p<0.05) between those companies that make us of Grid technologies (dla2) and those that believe Grid computing has the potential to increase the QoS (dle1). Thirty-four percent of the representatives either agree or strongly agree that Grid computing inherits this potential if they already employ this technology (Table 4-6).

 Table 4-6. Inter-item frequencies between d1a2 and d1e1 respectively d1e2. Integers represent rounded percentages

Iten	ıs				d1e1			d1e2					
N=2	4		SA	А	Ν	D	SD	_	SA	А	Ν	D	SD
d1a2	+	-	21	13	8	4	0		17	21	0	8	0
	0		0	4	13	8	0		0	13	4	8	0
	-		4	4	8	8	4		0	4	8	8	8

Similarly, a large correlation ( $\tau$ =0.53; p<0.01) is to be seen between Grid users (d1a2) and those who reckon that the use of Grid is justified because of the intention to increase the QoS (d1e2). Table 4-6 also exposes that 38% who use Grid already also tend to infer using Grid because of this fact (17% strongly agree and 21% agree). Yet, 16% who do not employ Grid computing likewise perceive no justification in using Grid to increase the QoS.

*d1a2 and d3a2*. An important role in one's own business in the future (d3a2) and the utilization of Grid technologies (d1a2) hold a medium inter-item correlation of  $\tau$ =0.44 (p<0.05). Although the scatter plot and the underlying numbers stress this linear inter-connection, reducing the response categories of d3a2 to three dimensions (Table 4-7) uncovers less linearity between positive, neutral or negative responses of these two statements.

 Table 4-7. Inter-item frequencies between d1a2 and d3a2. Integers represent rounded percentages

Item	ıs		d3a2									
N=2	4	_	SA	Α	Ν	D	SD		+	0	-	
d1a2	+		13	21	13	0	0		33	13	0	-
	0		0	17	8	0	0		17	8	0	
	-		0	8	13	8	0		8	13	8	

The right part of the table reflects a reduction of dimensions of the percentages to its left.

*d1b1 and d2e3*. A correlation of  $\tau$ =0.46 (p<0.05) implies a medium linearity between using TCO concepts (d1b1) and the proposition that external services should be accessed transparently (d2e3). The scatter plot (see Figure A-1, p. 89) exposes only nine data cells with a vast accumulation of responses in agreeing to d1b1 as well as d2e3.

The underlying data (Table 4-8) backs this observation. Thus, none of the surveyed companies disagreed that external services should be accessed transparently. Yet, 71% use TCO concepts and also agree to transparent access.

 Table 4-8. Inter-item frequencies between d1b1 and d2e3. Integers represent rounded percentages

Item	ıs		d2e3							
N=2	4	SA	Α	Ν	D	SD				
d1b1	+	46	25	0	0	0				
	0	4	4	8	0	0				
	-	0	4	8	0	0				

*d1c1 and d1c2*. A positive correlation between d1c1 and d1c2 exists meaning people thinking that TCO concepts are sufficient for the management of IT resources also tend to believe that this will be the case with Grid resources as well ( $\tau$ =0.57; p<0.01). A look at the scatter plot in Figure A-1 (see p. 89) or Table 4-9 reveals a linear relation between the two items. However, of those that negate the sufficiency of TCO within Grid environments, seventeen percent think that TCO can be utilized for the management and the evaluation of IT costs; twenty-nine percent disagree; and 21% remain undecided (Table 4-9).

 Table 4-9. Inter-item frequencies between d1c1 and d1c2. Integers represent rounded percentages

Iter	ns			Ċ	11c2	2									
N=2	24	 SA	A		Ν		D	SD	_			+	0	-	
d1c1	SA	 4	0		0		0	0	_	+	1	17	4	17	
	А	4	8		4		17	0		0		4	4	21	
	Ν	4	0		8		17	4		-		0	0	29	
	D	0	0		0		17	0							
	SD	0	0		0		0	13							

The right part of the table reflects a reduction of dimensions of the percentages to its left.

d1c2 and d2b1. One of the significant negative correlations (-0.42; p<0.05) exists between the items d1c2 (TCO concepts are sufficient for the management and evaluation of Grid expenditures) and d2b1 (security concerns are an obstacle for the acquisition of IT-services by an external provider).

 Table 4-10. Inter-item frequencies between d1c2 and d2b1. Integers represent rounded percentages

Iten	ns					d2b1				
N=2	24	SA	А	Ν	D	SD		+	0	-
d1c2	SA	4	4	0	0	4	+	8	8	4
	А	0	0	8	0	0	0	4	8	0
	Ν	0	4	8	0	0	-	50	17	0
	D	21	13	17	0	0				
	SD	13	4	0	0	0				

The right part of the table reflects a reduction of dimensions of the percentages to its left.

In this case, however, the scatter plot and Table 4-10 permit a somewhat different perspective at the data. The correlation of the five-scaled items does reflect a certain negative tendency between d1c2 and d2b1. When combining the categories to form a three-folded scale (exemplified on the right hand side of Table 4-10) however, already 50% of the respondents negate d1c2 but on the other hand agree to d2b1. Thus, a linear relation between the two items is questionable. It can be noted, however, that representatives who view security concerns as possible obstacles for the acquisition of external IT-services tend to hold the view that TCO concepts are rather insufficient regarding the evaluation and management of Grid computing expenditures.

d1d1 / d1d2 and d1e1 / d1e2. Significant correlations between all of the four items d1d1, d1d2, d1e1, and d1e2 can be observed. The inter-item correlation between d1d1 (Grid computing has the potential to reduce the TCO) and d1d2 (The intention to reduce TCO justifies the use of Grid computing applications in my business) amounts to  $\tau$ =0.71 (p<0.01). Additionally, the items Grid computing has the potential to improve the QoS (d1e1) and the intention to increase the QoS justifies the use of Grid computing applications in  $\tau$ =0.74; p<0.01). Both of these linear dependencies can also be certified by the scatter plot.

If one analyzes d1d1 and its relations further, large correlations with d1e1 (0.57; p<0.01) and d1e2 (0.64; p<0.01) exist. The same situation applies to d1d2 whose correlations coefficients with d1e1 and d1e2 can be calculated as  $\tau$ =0.46 (p<0.01) and  $\tau$ =0.72 (p<0.01) respectively.

Iten	Items d1d2					d1e1					d1e2						
N=2	.4	S	4	А	Ν	D	SD	SA	А	Ν	D	SD	SA	А	Ν	D	SD
d1d1	SA	2	9	8	4	0	0	25	8	4	4	0	17	21	0	4	0
	А	(	)	17	8	4	0	0	8	13	8	0	0	13	8	8	0
	Ν	(	)	4	13	4	4	0	4	13	8	0	0	4	4	13	4
	D	(	)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	SD	(	)	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	4
d1d2	SA							21	4	4	0	0	17	13	0	0	0
	А							0	8	13	8	0	0	17	8	4	0
	Ν							4	4	4	13	0	0	4	4	17	0
	D							0	4	4	0	0	0	4	0	4	0
	SD							0	0	4	0	4	0	0	0	0	8
d1e1	SA												17	8	0	0	0
	А												0	17	4	0	0
	Ν												0	13	4	8	4
	D												0	0	4	17	0
	SD												0	0	0	0	4

 Table 4-11. Inter-Item frequencies between d1d1, d1d2, d1e1, and d1e2. Integers represent rounded percentages

*d1d1 and d2c1 / d2c2*. Moreover, the item Grid computing has the potential to reduce the TCO (d1d1) is also correlated to the item d2c1 (Grid computing applications are suitable for offering standardized services) with  $\tau$ =0.36 (p<0.05) and d2c2 (Grid computing applications are suitable for offering customized services) with  $\tau$ =0.39 (p<0.05).

If the data is analyzed more closely (Table 4-12), it can again be concluded that a rather linear relation between the categories strongly agree to neutral of d1d1 and the other categories of d2c1 and d2c2.

 Table 4-12. Inter-item frequencies between d1d1 and d2c1 respectively d2c2. Integers represent rounded percentages

Iter	ns			d2c1					d2c2		
N=2	24	SA	А	Ν	D	SD	 SA	А	Ν	D	SD
d1d1	SA	17	21	0	4	0	 8	17	8	4	4
	А	0	17	13	0	0	4	13	13	0	0
	Ν	4	13	8	0	0	0	4	4	17	0
	D	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	SD	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	4

*d1d1 and d3a2*. Those company representatives granting Grid computing the potential to reduce the TCO (d1d1) also tend to believe that Grid technologies will play an important role in their own business (d3a2). The correlation between the two items amounts to  $\tau$ =0.38 (p<0.05). Yet, in the scatter plot the data seems to be clustered. In fact, 92% of all answers regarding d1d1 and d3a2 are located in the upper left corner of Table 4-13.

 Table 4-13. Inter-item frequencies between d1d1 and d3a2. Integers represent rounded percentages

Iter	ns			d3a	2	
N=2	24	S	A A	Ν	D	SD
d1d1	SA	8	3 21	13	0	0
	А	4	l 17	8	0	0
	Ν	(	) 8	13	4	0
	D	(	) 0	0	0	0
	SD	(	) 0	0	4	0

dlel / dle2 and d2c2. Furthermore, a medium correlation of  $\tau$ =0.38 (p<0.05) is to be observed between seeing the potential of Grid computing in increasing the QoS (dle1) and believing that Grid technologies are suitable for offering customized services (d2c2). Still, the scatter plot and the underlying responses (Table 4-14) would not support such a clear correlation.

The same correlation exists between d1e2 and d2c2. The correlation coefficient also amounts to  $\tau$ =0.38 (p<0.05).

 Table 4-14. Inter-item frequencies between d1e1 and d2c2. Integers represent rounded percentages

Iter	ns			d1e1					d1e2		
N=2	24	SA	А	Ν	D	SD	 SA	Α	Ν	D	SD
d2c2	SA	8	0	4	0	0	8	4	0	0	0
	А	13	8	4	8	0	4	17	0	13	0
	Ν	4	8	4	8	0	4	4	13	4	0
	D	0	4	13	4	0	0	8	0	8	4
	SD	0	0	4	0	4	0	4	0	0	4

dlel / dle2 and d3a2. dle1 and dle2 are also both significantly correlated to d3a2 with a coefficient of  $\tau$ =0.42 (p<0.05) respectively  $\tau$ =0.45 (p<0.05). But, as one could observe with other items before, Table 4-15 reveals that a linear relation exists between the categories strongly agree and neutral (d3a2) and the other two items.

 Table 4-15. Inter-item frequencies between d1e1 / d1e2 and d3a2. Integers represent rounded percentages

Iter	ns			d1e1	l				d1e2		
N=2	24	SA	Α	Ν	D	SD	SA	А	Ν	D	SD
d3a2	SA	8	4	0	0	0	 8	4	0	0	0
	А	8	17	13	8	0	4	21	8	13	0
	Ν	8	0	13	13	0	4	13	4	13	0
	D	0	0	4	0	4	0	0	0	0	8
	SD	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

*d2a1 and d2a2*. Furthermore, d2a1 and d2a2 exhibit a medium correlation ( $\tau$ =0.41; p<0.05). All of the respondents agreed to security aspects being important in using external IT-services (d2a2). Thus, most of those who agreed to d2a2 also supported the proposition d2a1 (88%). Only 12% who associated a high priority of security with using external IT-services did not feel similar about in-house IT-services and disagreed with this statement (Table 4-16).

 Table 4-16. Inter-item frequencies between d2a1 and d2a2. Integers represent rounded percentages

Iter	ns				d2a2		
N=2	24	_	SA	А	Ν	D	SD
d2a1	SA	_	50	0	0	0	0
	А		25	13	0	0	0
	Ν		0	0	0	0	0
	D		8	4	0	0	0
	SD		0	0	0	0	0

*d2b1 and d2d2.* Looking at the scatter plot for the relation between d2b1 and d2d2, one can observe that the responses are clustered to a certain extent, with an outlier apparently supporting a linear relation with a correlation of  $\tau$ =0.38 (p<0.05). Table 4-17 thus reveals that 42% of the company representatives agreed to d2b1 and d2d2 simultaneously. Twenty-five percent remain neutral to both statements, and 25% are in favor of one statement and undecided to the other.

 
 Table 4-17. Inter-item frequencies between d2b1 and d2d2. Integers represent rounded percentages

Iter	ns				d2	d2		
N=2	24	S	A	Α	Ν	J	D	SD
d2b1	SA		4	21	8	3	4	0
	А		0	17	8	3	0	0
	Ν		0	8	2	5	0	0
	D		0	0	(	)	0	0
	SD		0	0	(	)	0	4

d2c1 and d2d2. A similar result can be noted between d2c1 and d2d2. The correlation amounts to  $\tau$ =0.39 (p<0.05). Although, the scatter plot bears resemblance to a linear connection between these two items, the underlying numbers (left-hand side of Table 4-18) would attenuate this estimation. Ninety-two percent of the responses are accumulated between strongly agree and neutral of both items. Yet, 42% of the surveyed companies agreed to d2c1 and d2d2 at the same time.

Iter	ns			d2d2						d3a1		
N=2	24	SA	А	Ν	D	SD		SA	Α	Ν	D	SD
d2c1	SA	4	8	8	0	0	-	21	0	0	0	0
	А	0	29	21	0	0		13	25	13	0	0
	Ν	0	8	13	0	0		8	8	4	0	0
	D	0	0	0	4	0		0	0	0	4	0
	SD	0	0	0	0	4		0	0	4	0	0

**Table 4-18.** Inter-item frequencies between d2c1 and d2d2 (left) and d2c1 and d3a1 (right). In-tegers represent rounded percentages

d2c1 and d3a1. Yet another similar case emerges with the correlation between d2c1 and d3a1 ( $\tau$ =0.47; p<0.01). Table 4-18 (right-hand side) depicts that 92% of the respondents agree or remain neutral towards both items. Fifty-eight percent, in turn, believe that Grid computing is suitable for standardized services and predict a decisive role for Grid in the IT-sector in the future.

d2c2 and d3a1 / d3a2. Furthermore, the correlation matrix uncovers two significant correlations at the 0.01-level between d2c2 and d3a1 ( $\tau$ =0.46) respectively d3a2 ( $\tau$ =0.53). Although the scatter plot shows a scattered distribution of responses between d2c2 and d3a1, Table 4-19 shows that a slight linear tendency exists between these items. As compared to d3a1, the responses to d2c2—according to the categories agree, neutral and disagree—are more diverse. Therefore, it seems that those representatives that disagree with or are undecided towards the applicability of Grid technologies for customized services also tend to agree less strongly or are sceptical about a future important role of Grid computing in the IT-sector.

Iter	ns			d3a1						d3a2		
N=2	24	SA	А	Ν	D	SD	_	SA	А	Ν	D	SD
d2c2	SA	8	4	0	0	0	-	4	8	0	0	0
	А	25	4	0	4	0		8	17	8	0	0
	Ν	4	17	4	0	0		0	13	13	0	0
	D	4	4	13	0	0		0	8	8	4	0
	SD	0	4	4	0	0		0	0	4	4	0

 Table 4-19. Inter-item frequencies between d2c2 and d3a1 respectively d3a2. Integers represent rounded percentages

Correlating d2c2 to d3a2—concerning the future of Grid technologies in the respondent's own company—results in a large correlation as mentioned above. The fundamental data, displayed on the right-hand side of Table 4-19, suggests that respondents who disagreed with d2c2 also remain either diffident towards or disagree with d3a2.

*d2d1 and d3a2.* Negatively correlated are d2d1 and d3a2 ( $\tau$ = -0.38; p<0.05). This might be supported by the scatter plot, but the actual numbers (Table 4-20) reflect a slightly different picture. Forty-six percent of the survey companies agree to both d2d1 and d3a2. Moreover, another 46% were unsure towards one of the propositions. Thirty-four percent that agreed to d2d1 remained undecided towards d3a2, 8% disagreed.

 
 Table 4-20. Inter-item frequencies between d2d1 and d3a2. Integers represent rounded percentages

Iten	ns					d	<b>13</b> a2	2		
N=2	24	5	SA	A	ł		Ν		D	SD
d2d1	SA		0	1	7		17		4	0
	А		4	2	5		17		4	0
	Ν		8	4	ł		0		0	0
	D		0	(	)		0		0	0
	SD		0	(	)		0		0	0
	A N D SD		4 8 0 0	2 (	5    )		17 0 0 0		4 0 0 0	

d2d2 and d2d3. The inter-item correlation between d2d2 and d2d3 amounts to  $\tau$ =0.38 (p<0.05). In addition to what was already described in the univariate analysis of both items, 58% of all respondents are unsure of one or the other proposition (Table 4-21). The data is, therefore, rather grouped around the options agree and neutral of both items—when combining the values, 75% of all responses fall within this interval.

 
 Table 4-21. Inter-item frequencies between d2d2 and d2d3. Integers represent rounded percentages

Items				d2d3	3	
N=2	24	SA	A	Ν	D	SD
d2d2	SA	4	0	0	0	0
	А	4	17	21	4	0
	Ν	0	13	25	4	0
	D	0	0	4	0	0
	SD	0	0	0	0	4

d3a1 and d3a2. Additionally, d3a1 and d3a2 feature a strong correlation ( $\tau$ =0.61; p<0.01) suggesting that those who predict an important role for Grid computing in the IT sector (d3a1) will also assume a similar role in their business in the future (d3a2). Still, Table 4-22 shows that 21% (neutral) are rather sceptical about the Grid future in their own company even if they agree with d3a1.

 Table 4-22. Inter-item frequencies between d3a1 and d3a2. Integers represent rounded percentages

Items		d3a2				
N=2	24	SA	A	Ν	D	SD
d3a1	SA	13	25	4	0	0
	А	0	17	17	0	0
	Ν	0	4	8	8	0
	D	0	0	4	0	0
	SD	0	0	0	0	0

## 4.3.2 Contingency Tables

# 4.3.2.1 Public versus Private Sector

*d1c1*. The first difference in the answering patterns between the public and private sector is to be seen in item d1c1 (Figure 4-3; see p.60). Forty-seven percent of the private companies believed that TCO are sufficient for the evaluation and management of IT costs, whereas only 14% agreed in the public sector. On the contrary, relatively more public respondents remained neutral (57%) compared to private representatives (24%).

*d1d1*. All public representatives regarded Grid computing as potentially able to reduce the TCO. In contrast, only 59% of the private companies were of the same opinion. Thirty-five percent were unsure, 6% negated this statement (Figure 4-3).

*dle1*. In the public sector, 71% considered Grid computing having the potential to increase the QoS. The private sector in turn was rather skeptical, only 35% also agreed on this proposition. Another 35% of the private companies were neutral towards d1e1 and the remaining 29% disagreed. Only 14% of the public institutions were unsure or respectively objecting d1e1 (Figure 4-3).

*d1e2*. Similarly, 71% of the public sector also agreed to d1e2, thus applying Grid applications if one intents to increase the QoS. Fourteen percent either rejected d1e2 or felt unsure. In the private sector, only 47% also agreed to d1e2. On the other hand, 41% opposed this statement and 12% hesitated (Figure 4-3).

*d2d3*. In addition, 57% of all public institutions would publicize their personal experiences regarding the trustworthiness of service providers. The remaining 43% hesitated. The private sector responded more diverse. The majority (53%) was unsure and remained neutral. Twenty-nine percent complied with the proposition, which on the other hand 18% rejected (Figure 4-3).

*d2e2.* Another difference in answering patterns between these two sectors can be noted regarding the integration of grid computing applications into existing implementations (d2e2). The majority of private sector respondents (94%) agreed that a high integration is necessary (Figure 4-3). Only 57% of the public institutions were of the same opinion. Another 43% in the public sector were neutral towards this statement, 6% felt similar on the private side.

*d3a1 and d3a2*. Furthermore—regarding the future role of Grid computing—all public institutions consent that Grid computing will play a decisive role in the IT sector. In contrast, sixty-five percent of the private representatives thought equally, 41% were unsure and 6% negated d3a1 (Figure 4-3).

Concerning the future role in one's own business, 86% of the public sector believe Grid technologies will play a decisive role, whereas 14% were undecided. On the other hand, only 47% of private companies also supported d1e2. Forty-one percent were unsure and 12% disagreed (Figure 4-3).



Figure 4-3. Obvious differences between public and private sector (Source: Author)

# 4.3.2.2 SMEs versus Large Enterprises

*d1c1.* One of the first stronger differences between SMEs and enterprises can be found concerning TCO concepts and their sufficiency to evaluate and manage IT-costs. Accordingly, 40% of the SMEs in this case held TCO to be satisfactory while another 40% rejected d1c1. Twenty percent were unsure. On the other hand, 57% of the enterprise respondents were also in favor of this proposition. Twenty-nine percent remained neutral and 14% disagreed (Figure 4-4; see p. 62).

*d1d1*. More diverse were the response patterns towards d1d1. Seventy percent of all private SMEs felt that Grid computing has the potential to reduce the TCO. Only 30% hesitated. In contrast, 43% of the enterprise representatives also agreed. Yet, only 14% objected d1d1 and the remaining 43% were unsure (Figure 4-4).

*d2b2*. Another difference between SMEs and enterprises becomes obvious while examining the views on the acquisition of internal IT-services and possible security obstacles. Forty-three percent of the enterprises are of the opinion that security concerns can denote a possible hindrance, whereas none of the SME representatives concurred. Both 50% of the SMEs were undecided or disagreed with d2b2. On the enterprise side, 43% objected this statement and 14% were diffident (Figure 4-4).

*d2c1*. Moreover, almost all of the SMEs believed that Grid computing is suitable for offering standardized services (90%). The remaining 10% were neutral. The surveyed enterprises responded more diverse: 43% similarly complied with d2c1, 29% were unsure and 29% dissented (Figure 4-4).

d2c2. As regards offering customized services, a difference can be spotted. Forty percent of the SMEs considered Grid computing suitable for offering these services, 40% also hesitated, whereas 20% negated this proposition. Concerning the enterprise representatives, 43% also consented with d2c2 while 57% rejected this statement (Figure 4-4).

*d2d2*. While 57% of the enterprise respondents would utilize publicly accessible information for the service selection, 14% were rather undecided and 29% would not make use of this information. On the other hand, 50% of the SMEs were unsure and 50% agreed (Figure 4-4).

*d3a1*. Another difference between enterprises and SMEs is unveiled by a closer look at d3a1. The majority of the SMEs were in favor of this statement (80%) with only 20% of the respondents being indecisive. On the contrary, 43% of the enterprise representatives perceived an important future role of Grid computing in the IT-sector. Forty-three percent remained neutral and 14% rejected d3a1 (Figure 4-4).



Figure 4-4. Obvious differences between SMEs and enterprises (Source: Author)

## 4.3.3 Significance Tests of Contingency Tables

# 4.3.3.1 Freeman-Halton Test

The contingency tables that will be examined for significances have been already described in the previous Ch. 4.3.2. In the following chapter, these tables will be tested for independency between the responding groups. Thus, I want to verify if the results obtained also represent significant results. The probabilities shown constitute twotailed significances. The null hypothesis predicts that no difference exists between the two groups. The alternative hypothesis predicts that a difference exists and both groups are independent.

The results for some selected items that show differences between private and public sector can be found in Table 4-23. Under the asumption of  $\alpha$ =0.05, the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. This implies that no significant difference between the two groups can be verified with the respective testing procedure.

The calculations of the significance tests can be found in Appendix F.

Item		Private (#)	Public (#)	<b>Probability</b> (2-tailed)	
	+	8	1		
d1c1	0	4	4	0.24	
	-	5	2		
	+	10	7		
d1d1	0	6	0	0.17	
	-	1	0		
	+	6	5		
d1e1	0	6	1	0.31	
	-	5	1		
	+	8	5		
d1e2	0	2	1	0.47	
	- 7 1	1			
	+	5	4		
d2d3	0	9	3	0.48	
	-	3	0		
	+	16	4		
d2e2	0	1	3	0.06	
	-	0	0		
	+	11	7		
d3a1	0	5	0	0.36	
	-	1	0		
	+	8	6		
d3a2	0	7	1	0.23	
	-	2	0		
Numbers		17	7		

**Table 4-23.** Freeman-Halton test for selected items between private and public sector. With probabilities greater than  $\alpha$ =0.05, the null-hypothesis cannot be rejected

The results for selected items that show differences between SMEs and enterprises can be found in Table 4-24.

**Table 4-24.** Freeman-Halton test for selected items between SMEs and Enterprises. With probabilities greater than  $\alpha$ =0.05, the null-hypothesis cannot be rejected

Item		SME (#)	Enterprise (#)	Probability (2-tailed)
	+	4	4	
d1c1	0	2	2	0.57
	-	4	1	
	+	7	3	
d1d1	0	3	3	0.43
	-	0	1	
	+	0	3	
d2b2	0	5	1	0.07
	-	5	3	
	+	9	3	
d2c1	0	1	2	0.09
	-	0	2	
	+	4	3	
d2c2	0	4	0	0.12
	-	2	4	
	+	5	4	
d2d2	0	5	1	0.14
	-	0	2	
	+	8	3	
d3a1	0	2	3	0.19
	-	0	1	
Numbe	rs	10	7	
# 4.3.3.2 Fisher's Exact Test

After I calculated the tests of independence with the Freeman-Halton test, I will now collapse the dimensions to 2x2. Consequently, the alternative hypothesis for all items is  $H_1$ : The fraction of one of the groups (private versus public respectively SME versus enterprises) that supports a statement ("+") is greater than the fraction of the other group that supports the statement. The null hypothesis, in turn, reads that the fraction of the first group is smaller or equal to the fraction of the last group. The one-tailed probabilities for private versus public institutions are to be found in Table 4-25.

**Table 4-25.** Fisher's exact test of selected items between private and public sector. With probabilities greater than  $\alpha$ =0.05, the null-hypothesis cannot be rejected. Priv (Private Sector), Publ (Public Sector)

Item		Priv	Publ	Total	Probability (1-tailed)
	+	8	1	9	
d1c1	o / -	9	6	15	0.15
	Total	17	7	24	
	+	10	7	17	
d1d1	o / -	7	0	7	0.06
	Total	17	7	24	
	+	6	5	11	
d1e1	o / -	11	2	13	0.12
	Total	17	7	24	
	+	8	5	13	
d1e2	o / -	9	2	11	0.26
	Total	17	7	24	
	+	5	4	9	
d2d3	o / -	12	3	15	0.21
	Total	17	7	24	
	+	16	4	20	
d2e2	o / -	1	3	4	0.06
	Total	17	7	24	
	+	11	7	18	
d3a1	o / -	6	0	6	0.09
	Total	17	7	24	
	+	8	6	14	
d3a2	o / -	9	1	10	0.10
	Total	17	7	24	

The probabilities for SMEs versus enterprises can be found in Table 4-26. Compared to the Freeman-Holton test, the items d2c2 and d2d2 were excluded as—after collapsing—no obvious distinction could be found. Under the asumption of  $\alpha$ =0.05, the null hypothesis cannot be rejected. This implies that the fraction of one group supporting

the respective statement cannot be verified to be significantly greater than the fraction of the other group with the respective testing procedure.

**Table 4-26.** Test of independence of selected items according to company size. With probabilities greater than  $\alpha$ =0.05, the null-hypothesis cannot be rejected. SME (Small- and Medium-sized Enterprises), Entrp (Enterprises)

Item		SME	Entrp	o Total	Probability
		(#)	(#)	(#)	(1-tailed)
	+	4	4	8	
d1c1	o / -	6	3	9	0.15
	Total	10	7	17	
	+	7	3	10	
d1d1	o / -	3	4	7	0.27
	Total	10	7	17	
	+	0	3	3	
d2b2	o / -	10	4	14	0.05
	Total	10	7	17	
	+	9	3	12	
d2c1	o / -	1	4	5	0.06
	Total	10	7	17	
	+	8	3	11	
d3a1	o / -	2	4	6	0.14
	Total	10	7	17	

# 5 Discussion, Evaluation, and Application of Results to open Grids

# 5.1 Discussion

#### 5.1.1 Discussion of Grid Market Structure

#### 5.1.1.1 Grid Market in General

In the conducted research, the corporate attitude towards several key issues and further requirements were examined. In the following, the characteristics of the market and its actors will be analyzed in order to discuss the key issues subsequently. After describing the limitations of the research, the findings will then be applied to an open Grid market.

Knowledge barrier-reducing institutions or—more specifically—consultancies are present. The research might not reflect the actual share of consultancies compared to service providers, application providers, or consumers within the market (here 21%). However, it serves as an empirical indicator for the theoretical predictions. Thus, consultancies are already spreading the word about Grid computing, the technological requirements, and its effect on business issues. They are supporting their customers in order to implement Grid computing and therefore reduce possible knowledge barriers.

As the commercial reports predicted the sectors automotive, finance and banking, or healthcare to be among the group of early adopters, these groups can also be found among the respondents of the survey. Thus, it can be concluded that either the companies themselves joined one of the research networks in order to obtain more information on Grid computing or to create a personal network for problem solving; or the early adopters were approached by researchers to examine their experiences with Grid computing more closely and to enhance—through exchange of information from the scientific and business background—the existing solutions.

Furthermore, those that already use Grid computing (d1a2) also tend to believe that Grid computing will have an important role in their company in the future (d3a2;

 $\tau$ =0.44). Grid computing once employed therefore seems to fulfill the companies' needs for the challenges they have to solve. This is supported by the positive forecast for the future of Grid computing. Seventy-five percent believe Grid computing will have an important role in the IT sector (d3a1) and 58% believe that Grid computing will have an important role in their business (d3a2). This is supported by a strong correlation between the two items. Yet, several factors might influence these results. It could be argued that the representatives view the Grid computing technology as viable for the future because of its great potential. This in turn might influence the tendency to view Grid computing important in the future of one's own company. It could also be possible that those using Grid in their company predict a great future within the IT sector because being influenced by the results they achieved. However, their situation might not be applicable to companies not using Grid computing yet. Moreover, the mentioned pro-innovation bias might also influence the attitude of the respondents in that they answer more positively regarding the future of Grid computing.

Although a tendency to support the statements that Grid computing reduces the TCO and increases the QoS can be observed, slight differences among the respondents still exist. Seventy-one percent of the respondents hold Grid computing suitable for reducing the Total Cost of Ownership (d1d1), whereas only 46% hold Grid computing suitable for increasing the Quality of Service (d1e1).

Nonetheless, as it can be predicted from the significant inter-item correlations of d1d1, d1d2, d1e1, d1e2 and the correlation of all four items with d1a2 (Grid computing is already being used), those companies and institutions already using Grid technologies are characterized by a common attitude. Fifty-eight percent respectively 54% of all surveyed companies responded that the intention to reduce the TCO or increase the QoS would justify the adoption of Grid computing. Thus, as usually more variables are involved in a decision to deploy a new technology, the majority of respondents seem to be rather daring and risk loving because of justifying the use of Grid computing for reducing the TCO or increasing the QoS. According to Heuß' and Rogers' theory, this is an indication that—under the current conditions of the Grid market—mostly risk loving innovators or early adopters are involved in Grid comput-

ing research and have adopted Grid technologies already to tackle the challenges in their companies.

# 5.1.1.2 Public versus Private Sector

An obvious distinction has to be made between companies in the private and institutions in the public sector. Although the significance tests on trial did not reveal significant results (see Ch. 5.2), a different response behavior can still be observed between these two groups. The public sector strongly supports the statements that Grid computing reduces the TCO (100%) and increases the QoS (71%). In contrast, private companies responded rather conservatively (d1d1: 59%; d1e1: 35%).

Several reasons might account for this attitude: Grid computing started out in the research and science environment. Public institutions, therefore, have more experience with this technology, its strengths, and its weaknesses. The private sector still has to find out in which way Grid computing as innovation can support their business in achieving their goals. Moreover, they have to integrate the Grid technology into their existing infrastructures, which is a rather complex and lengthy process.

It can also be argued that research institutions are subject to a pro-innovation bias (see Ch. 2.3), especially since research might be restricted to models and environments that do not reflect actual environments in which businesses operate. Therefore, their perspective is restricted to the assumed model underlying the specific research approach.

Divergent structures of the respective sectors might also influence the more positive attitude of the public sector. Thus, private companies might be under considerable pressure to reduce costs and use available IT budgets effectively and efficiently, especially since the pressure on the management has increased tremendously in the last few years. Within the costs-quality-time paradigm, they are forced to select the right strategy for the first time (Kalakota and Robinson 2001, pp. 109, 143). IT investments are, for this reason, more intensely analyzed. The public sector, on the other hand, can research in predefined environments or with testbeds that are not subject to any external pressures as e.g. the demand for integration with legacy systems. These tests might show clearer results faster than the adoption or implementation in a company could yield.

It can also be observed that the private sector is more reserved regarding the justification of using Grid computing because of the potential to increase the QoS, compared to the more definite attitude towards its use because of the potential to reduce the TCO. Forty-one percent reject deploying Grid because of an increase in QoS, whereas only 18% disagree with using Grid technologies because of its ability to reduce the TCO. Therefore, cost reductions seem to constitute a greater external pressure or justification for adopting Grid technologies.

#### 5.1.1.3 SMEs versus Large Enterprises

Furthermore, company size represented a control variable in our research. Yet, no clear support was to be found that larger companies try Grid computing rather than smaller companies because of a greater amount of financial resources for example. In fact, within the private sector, more SMEs than enterprises were present in the conducted questionnaire. It might be possible that the research communities already contain more SMEs. On the other hand, smaller companies may tend to answer a questionnaire rather than larger companies as the latter might be asked to participate in various surveys.

Another reason might be that the research projects within Grid computing help smaller companies to reduce their knowledge barriers. Within these communities, they find similar peers that can support them if problems arise. In addition, this might indicate that these projects help small companies to overcome missing financial resources. Either the projects are subsidized by governmental organizations or the collaboration of partners reduces the partial costs for research and development activities for each partner involved.

In general, SMEs are more convinced that Grid computing has the potential to reduce the TCO (d1d1; 70%) than enterprises (43%). This supports the great potential of Grid computing especially for smaller companies as they can resort to other resources when needed without investing in additional hardware and reduce the capital lockup, as resources will be utilized more strongly.

Nevertheless, if company size should be tested in the future as influential factor on the adoption of an open Grid, a different research design would be necessary as the

conducted survey in this work focused on the attitudes of company representatives with company size as control variable.

#### 5.1.2 Discussion of Key Issues

In the following, the elaborated propositions will be evaluated according to the responses to the questionnaire items.

## 5.1.2.1 Total Cost of Ownership and Quality of Service

TCO concepts are widely deployed: 71% of the respondents use TCO concepts in their company or institution (d1b1). Of those that responded to whether they use TCO, 55% even agreed that these concepts have a major importance in their company (d1b2).

However, for finding a definite answer to Proposition 1, it has to be clarified if a consistent understanding of TCO concepts is prevalent and for which purposes they are employed. From the presented reasons in Ch. 2.3.3.1, I presume that no uniform understanding exists, as there are different TCO models available on the market (Wild and Herges 2000, p. 9). Although TCO was defined as a tool for managing IT costs and the wording of the question (d1c1) was alluding to the management and evaluation of IT costs specifically, companies could practically deploy TCO as a tool for analyzing investments—with the already described downside of a missing consideration of benefits. Yet, no clear distinction can be derived from the questionnaire which purposes TCO concepts are deployed for in the companies. Thus, this difference in meaning and practical deployment could have influenced the responses of the representatives.

No clear distinction can be made regarding the sufficiency of TCO for the management and evaluation of IT costs since similar answers were given for all three categories (d1c1: "+" 38%, "o" 33%, "-" 29%). Nevertheless, the attitude towards TCO is more clearly within a Grid environment. Sixty-seven percent reject this statement (d1c2). The correlation shows that those who favor TCO for IT costs are of similar opinion regarding TCO for Grid computing. Still, from the 67% that reject TCO for Grid computing, 29% also reject TCO for managing IT-costs. However, a clear difference in responses between d1c1 and d1c2 can be observed. According to

Proposition 2, the actual form of TCO does not seem to be sufficient for Grid computing purposes.

Furthermore, it remains unclear if TCO concepts are not applicable in total or if only additional tools have to be found in order to introduce a value-oriented perspective or to include a cost allocation according to the cause of costs. From a mere conceptual perspective, the TCO concept seems to be rather flexible as the cost accumulation is based on a flexible chart of accounts that might differ from company to company or according to its purpose (e.g. PC, LAN, WAN). Yet, as was also outlined, it was originally introduced to make indirect costs more transparent in decentralized IT infrastructures. However, with the emergence of service-oriented architectures and the consolidation and vertical integration of hardware, managers might have become aware that a shift in management accounting and especially cost allocation to support these technical changes is necessary.

Nevertheless, researchers and practitioners criticized the TCO model because of its lack of contemplating benefits. This critique is not clearly observable in our research. Only the correlation respectively the linear tendency (those that rejected TCO for managing IT costs also disagreed on managing Grid computing costs with TCO) between d1c1 and d1c2 might indicate such an argumentation; especially since 29% rejected both statements. Thus, it could be argued that those that reject both statements reject TCO concepts because of the lack of value-orientation. Still, 17% rejected and 21% remained undecided towards d1c1, but disagreed on managing Grid computing costs with TCO. The latter could be explained by the fact that in practice a value-oriented approach of measuring IT investments is becoming more and more important. Yet, since Grid computing enables the creation if diverse infrastructures, a model for cost- or benefit-analysis of the underlying IT infrastructure and future IT investments have to be customizable to the purposes of the company.

First propositions of activity-based costing or suggestions for cost accounting systems (see Ch. 2.3.3.1) for tackling these challenges were already presented. Within an open Grid market, cost allocation could be manageable through auctions or similar market mechanisms. Still, enterprises have to be able to calculate the costs and evaluate the benefits of their IT infrastructure. Therefore, a more detailed analysis of the

outlined problem set in management accounting and the evaluation of IT investments concerning open Grid markets remains necessary in further research.

As was already described in Ch. 5.1.1.1, it can be concluded that specific challenges within the companies' environments exist (e.g. competitive pressures for cost reductions) for which solutions have to be found. Grid computing proposes a solution for these challenges, especially for cost reductions (Proposition 3: Grid computing can be used for reducing TCO). A strong correlation between those using Grid already and those approving of the consequent TCO reduction stresses this fact. However, the respondents were more reserved towards Grid computing for increasing the QoS. Forty-six percent granted Grid computing this potential. Yet, a stronger tendency could be observed towards reducing TCO. This could be an indicator that while costs can be reduced with Grid computing, this might not have a direct effect on service levels as argued in Ch. 2.3.3.1 regarding Proposition 4. Grid computing might therefore not exactly be able to increase the QoS, but it might have the potential to keep existing service levels.

# 5.1.2.2 Security Issues

Similar to the theoretical findings, security also constitutes an important influential factor from the practitioners' point of view. Almost all respondents support that security is a major factor in utilizing external (d2a1) as well as internal IT services (d2a2) supporting Proposition 5 (Security aspects are important for companies' internal and external usage of Grid computing). Nevertheless, external services (d2b1) are rather an obstacle than internal services (d2b2). Sixty-three percent considered external services being obstructive; 46% rejected this being the case with internal services, which speaks for Proposition 6 (Security concerns hinder the deployment of externally sourced IT services).

Thus, practitioners are even more cautious when selecting external services. Although security mechanisms are being gradually improved, non-technical concerns will also hinder the adoption of Grid resources. As revealed in Ch. 2.3, corporate cultures or personal perceptions of security-aspects are important influential factors that need to be considered.

Furthermore, SMEs and enterprises slightly differed in their attitude towards internal services and their corresponding security-concerns (see Figure 4-4, p. 62). None of the representatives of SMEs viewed security-concerns being influential when sourcing IT services within one's company. However, 43% of the enterprises were more skeptical and saw possible obstacles in using internal IT services.

The perceived security risks and obstacles mark an important factor in Grid adoption especially in an open Grid market and could significantly hinder the adoption. Not only is the existence of hard security necessary, but also soft security has to be enclosed. Since Grid computing is concerned with direct access to remote resources, service or resource provider and the respective users, therefore, have to establish a sufficient level of trust. For this reason, technical security solutions also have to offer possibilities for market participants to establish trust relations amongst each other.

It remains questionable if security concerns are less strongly influencing the adoption decision in Intergrids compared to the adoption of open Grid resources. Theoretically, the level of control is greater in Intergrids, which in turn might positively influence the decision and the attitude of companies towards this form of collaboration. Nevertheless, further research regarding the influence of security concerns towards Intergrids and open Grids has to be undertaken.

Furthermore, 71% of all respondents suggested that Grid computing is suitable for offering standardized services (d2c1) whereas only 46% were of the same opinion regarding Grid computing and customized services (d2c2). Although the relative majority supports the possibility to offer customized services with Grid computing, more representatives were clearly favoring standardized services. Thus, Grid computing seems to be more suitable for standardized services (Proposition 7). This will be especially important in an open Grid market as standardization of services will in turn yield more information for the customer and will reduce the information asymmetry (Eymann et al. 2008, pp. 8-9).

The further examination on reputation and active and passive usage of reputation systems is rather limited. Concerning items d2d2 and d2d3, 42% respectively 50% remained neutral towards these items. One possible explanation would be that these companies and private institutions could not establish a connection between Grid

computing and reputational systems as their scope of Grid deployment is still limited to Intragrids. For this reason, it does not seem reasonable to derive detailed conclusions from these items regarding Proposition 8 and Proposition 9 since almost half of the participants would have to be neglected.

Empirically it can be observed that the majority of participants (88%) considered past behavior of sourcing IT services from external service providers (d2d1) as being substantial. Thus, the corporate attitudes regarding reputation mirror the delineated theoretical elaborations.

In addition, the selection of possible reputational systems will also have a specific impact on the reputation of the open Grid market. It could be speculated if the customer would obtain a better overview if partially satisfied users would express their dissatisfaction more clearly (Resnick and Zeckhauser 2002, pp. 23-24). Nevertheless, this might have a negative effect on the overall faith towards the reputational system.

Interestingly, a linear relation existed between those that view security concerns to be an obstacle in service selection (d2b1) and those that would use publicly accessible information about the reputation of the respective supplier (d2d2). Thus, these company representatives would try to reduce their information asymmetry in using a reputational system. This stresses the importance of a reputational system within an open Grid market.

#### 5.1.2.3 Further Requirements

As stated in Proposition 10, the need for a high integration of Grid computing applications into existing systems is clearly supported by the respondents. Eighty-three percent were in favor of this proposition. Thus, a high integration into existing infrastructures will also be a requirement in order to make use of open Grid resources.

Furthermore, Proposition 11 demanded the transparent access of external services. A great majority of 83% supports this statement. Thus, Grid users should only have to deal with the least possible amount of information about the underlying structure.

The most used standard for internal and external communication of companies and institutions being familiar with Grid are Web Services. This might be due to the fact that all respondents are already in contact with Grid computing where the necessity of standards for the interoperability of systems was often stated within numerous researches, especially since Web Services form part of the Grid computing architecture. Especially in an open Grid market does interoperability constitute an important requirement. Otherwise, sharing of resources would not be possible beyond organizational boundaries.

#### 5.2 Evaluation and Limitations of Research Methodology

Generalizing the discussed findings is not unrestrictedly possible. Certain restrictions based on research methodology, instruments or data evaluation therefore limit the informational value.

Firstly, the questionnaire as measuring instrument could have influenced the retained results. All errors due to the measurement method can be described as common method variance (Podsakoff et al. 2003) and are a potential problem in research. First, the content of questions might be one source of error as nine participants were not able to answer especially the first section regarding TCO and QoS. Maybe the questions were too specific so that the respondents were not able to answer. It could also be possible that they could not establish a connection between the items and the topic of Grid computing (e.g. regarding reputation systems). The questions might have reduced the reliability that the questionnaire measures the underlying attribute it was supposed to measure. It is therefore not clear if companies for example are using TCO or using TCO for measuring IT efficiency as the item contains both usage and purpose. Furthermore, the order of items also affects the retained results. Answers to former questions positively or negatively influence the response behavior in a subsequent question (halo effect).

Moreover, the procedure of research might also have influenced the conducted research. It can be observed that only a small sample with 33 respondents was retained. The evaluation of results shows interesting insights. Yet, especially the analysis of private and public institutions or SMEs and enterprises is only based on a small number of respondents. For more-reliable results, the number of retained responses within these specific groups should have been greater. This is also the reason why the tests of significance (see Ch. 4.3.3) do not show any significant results. With a small sample,

only large effects can be measured. Some of the  $\alpha$ -values were indeed small. Yet, the asymmetry in some of the contingency tables and the few responses did not permit significant results. Nevertheless, difference in answering behavior might still exist which are not based on large but medium effects. These effects would have to be examined with a bigger sample in the future.

Furthermore, the selection of participants might have influenced the results positively. As all of the respondents are part of a research network, the attitude towards Grid computing might be positively biased. Generalizing the results to companies and institutions that are not yet familiar with Grids should therefore be conducted carefully.

The mentioned errors as well as unconsidered variables therefore could have amplified or reduced the examined connections of variables and items. In reality, these connections could be stronger than observed or even non-existent.

## 5.3 Theoretical Model of Factors Influencing open Grid Adoption

Although the application of the conducted survey is partially limited, some clear tendencies can be used for an application to open Grid markets. As I analyzed the attitude of market actors theoretically and empirically, these findings will now be conflated to propose determinants of open Grids.

From the theoretical findings, it can be concluded that open Grids are still in the experimental phase in which the technology has to be enhanced significantly in order to create demand for such platforms. The determinants that will be elaborated in the following as well as the attitude and concerns of market actors can—in a later stage— be further examined through research and influenced or reduced through practical actions. Thus, the focus is to propose possible influential factors. For this reason, a description why determinants mentioned in Ch. 2.3.2 are not applicable to open Grids does not appear to be beneficial as parameters should be examined that have a positive or negative influence on the attitude towards open Grids and the intention to utilize this form of resource sharing. Nevertheless, factors might have different effects in different stages of the market and might also have mutual impacts. These would have to be examined in further research.

The intention to adopt open Grids within one's company becomes the dependent variable. In the following, the proposed influential factors will be arranged by technological, organizational, and environmental factors.

# 5.3.1 Technological

Relative Advantage. Although a tendency of pro-innovation bias towards Grid computing can be observed (see Ch. 2.3.1) since numerous publications glorified Grid computing as being the next Internet, the Grid capabilities and the retained responses still suggest a relative advantage compared to existing technologies. The conducted research furthermore stresses Grid computing's capability to reduce the TCO andless strongly-to increase the QoS. With the emergence of an open Grid market, the flexibility in IT sourcing will increase and will offer, especially to SMEs and Start-Ups, the possibility to source computing resources according to demand. Thus, capital lockup will decrease and the barrier of needed financial resources will diminish. In Intragrids a higher utilization rate of resources can already be achieved, but depending on the growth rate of the company, the number of possible consumers (departments) is rather limited. Offering an open market to data centers for example would increase the number of consumers and the number of demand. Therefore, the utilization rate could further increase, especially if the respective department is accountable for profits and forced to increase the profits. Nevertheless, also higher cost-efficiency is an important factor, not only in Intragrids but also in open Grids. Hence:

Hypothesis 1: The greater the perceived relative advantage, the greater will be the intention to adopt open Grid resources.

Security Concerns. Nevertheless, the high security concerns regarding external ITservices could have a negative effect on the adoption of an open Grid within one's company. However, as already discussed, security issues are two-fold, including hard and soft factors. Thus, the technical issues have to be solved in order to reach market maturity of the underlying technology or platform. On the other hand, perceived security issues that are mainly based on intuition and belief pose another threat on the adoption of open Grid resources. This was also indicated by the conducted survey.

Some enterprises respondents already denoted security concerns being obstructive within the company. Consequently, the potential perceived threat increases using open Grid resources. Hence:

Hypothesis 2: The greater the perceived security risks in an open Grid market, the smaller will be the intention to adopt open Grid resources.

In this context, trust in the platform could be used as a more general term that would influence the decision to adopt or to take part in an open Grid market. Nevertheless, a clear understanding of trust has to be developed first in order to derive an exact hypothesis for this variable. This might also depend on market regulations concerning infringements or the choice and design of a possible reputation system in order to decrease information asymmetry. Trust could also be seen in the context of inter-organizational relations. Thus, the reputation of suppliers within the market could have positive or negative effects on the reputation of the platform as described above. Further research therefore seems to be necessary in order to introduce trust and reputation issues into an open Grid platform in this experimental stage of the platform, technically as well as theoretically.

*Compatibility*. The compatibility of the open Grid technology with existing systems within companies determines the intention whether to use open Grids. As can be derived from the survey results, a high integration with existing systems is necessary. However, compatibility can also be viewed in the context of compatibility with existing management techniques and beliefs. If open Grids demand many changes within a company, the intention to adopt might decrease. The use of service-oriented architectures and the need to analyze IT investments according to their benefits also requires a change in management accounting as shown above. The more open-minded a company is towards these changes and the more changes have been undertaken in a similar direction as Grid computing, the greater will be the compatibility. Therefore:

Hypothesis 3: The greater the compatibility of Grid computing with existing techniques and beliefs within a company, the greater will be the intention to adopt open Grid resources.

*Complexity*. In addition, the complexity of the needed technology will affect the implementation and integration processes within a company. The more complex open Grids are, the more knowledge is needed in order to implement open Grids. Additionally, interferences with existing systems need to be eliminated and further training will be necessary. All of these will be more difficult and more costly, if open Grids are too complex. The simpler open Grids are constructed and the easier they can be used and integrated, the more companies will utilize open Grids. Hence:

Hypothesis 4: The greater the complexity of open Grids, the smaller the intention to adopt open Grid resources.

#### 5.3.2 Organizational

*Absorptive Capacity.* From an organizational perspective in this market stage, as the Grid technology is still technically developed, the IT department of a company plays an important role in the adoption of Grid technologies, especially as they will mainly be responsible for introducing new infrastructures in their company. Moreover, Grid computing demands a certain amount of technical expertise and, thus, represents a high knowledge burden. However, the IT department can be characterized by different determinants and is probably differently structured in each company. Therefore, the ability to absorb and to assimilate this knowledge into the company system (Fichman 1992; see Ch. 3.4)—the so-called absorptive capacity is defined as the "ability to exploit external knowledge" (Cohen and Levinthal 1990, p. 128) and is viewed as a function of prior knowledge. R&D investments, employee vocational training, or manufacturing processes are viewed as some of the influential factors of building further capacity. Hence:

Hypothesis 5: The greater the absorptive capacity of a company, the greater will be the intention to adopt open Grid resources.

*Risk Tolerance*. Regarding Heuß' conclusions and the findings from diffusion theory, risk tolerance is an important element affecting decision-making. The questionnaire results support this fact, as the current participants in Grid technologies tend to show a high affinity for the new technology and its potential to solve their current business challenges (here cost reduction including service levels in terms of QoS). Therefore, in the early market phases, a high risk-willingness will constitute an important factor on the decision to adopt a technology. Therefore, it can be concluded:

Hypothesis 6: The greater the risk tolerance, the greater will be the intention to adopt open Grid resources.

In a later stage of the market, though, other factors (e.g. external pressures) will affect immobile entrepreneurs forcing them to adopt the innovation. Consequently, risk tolerance will loose its influence over time. External pressures will be considered within the environmental factors.

*Size.* Since organizations are very heterogeneous, size was found to be a predictor variable for innovation diffusion and adoption (Chwelos et al. 2001, pp. 305-306; Premkumar et al. 1997, p. 117). Yet, the results of the conducted questionnaire could not support a certain tendency. However, this might not be an indicator, as the study cannot make any inferences on how many small or large companies are utilizing Grid technologies so far. Therefore, I presume that size does still have a positive effect on the adoption of open Grid resources since larger companies dispose of higher financial resources and tend to have lower knowledge barriers (Thong 1999).

Hypothesis 7: The larger a company, the greater will be its intention to adopt open Grid resources.

*Top management support.* As research on EDI revealed, top management support is an important influential factor that decides whether a new technology will be adopted as top management support is an indicator for the available financial resources and the commitment for an innovation. Moreover, this construct is similar to Heuß' and Rogers' findings of market actor characteristics. Innovators and early adopters are

rather progressive entrepreneurs that foresee strategic possibilities. If the management is committed and confident about the prospects of open Grids, they might also show support for the use of open Grid resources. Therefore:

Hypothesis 8: The greater the top management support for using an open Grid market, the greater will be the intention to adopt open Grid resources.

## 5.3.3 Environmental

*Number of knowledge barrier-reducing institutions.* Moreover, it can be concluded from Ch. 2.2 that institutions for lowering knowledge barriers as consulting companies respectively change agents are important for the diffusion of innovations. Many consulting institutions for Grid computing emerged in the last few years (see Ch. 2.3) that are highly involved in practical research and corresponding research networks, as can be concluded from the conducted questionnaire. The influence they have through their personal networks affects the attitude of their clients. However, only progressive entrepreneurs or innovators are assertive and technology-affine enough to deal with technological challenges and the imposed knowledge barriers. Early adopters on the other hand will examine an innovation more closely and decide subsequently about its usefulness. Their opinion leadership will clearly influence adopters in a later stage. The more support they have to deal with challenges, the stronger will they tend to adopt the innovation. This is especially the case for small companies with limited IT know-how (Premkumar et al. 1997, p. 116). Hence, it can be concluded that:

Hypothesis 9: The more institutions are actively reducing knowledge barriers regarding an open Grid market, the greater will be the intention to adopt open Grid resources.

*Competitive Pressure.* In a changing market environment (see Ch. 2.2), cost reductions become important in order to remain competitive. From the obtained responses concerning the potential of Grid computing technologies to reduce the TCO or increase the QoS, I concluded that companies are under competitive pressures, which

induce the necessity for cost reductions. This is also the case in the expansion phase of a market (here the market in which a company is offering its products), in which cost reductions become possible as production increases. Yet, in a competitive environment, which requires keeping or increasing one's market share, cost reductions will be inescapable in order to reduce prices or to be profitable. Thus, competitive pressures might also affect the intention to adopt open Grid resources if further cost reductions can be induced through open Grids. Therefore:

Hypothesis 10: The greater the competitive pressure, the greater will be the intention to adopt open Grid resources.

*Network Effect.* The critical mass might be an indicator in a later stage of the market as bandwagon effects have a strong influence in network industries (Shy 2001). After the critical mass is reached, the number of users increases exponentially. Still, this variable is only a static indicator. More generally, it can be stated that the more businesses take part in an open Grid market, the more resources will be shared. Thus, the possibilities within the open Grid market will increase. For this reason, the network effect also constitutes an influential factor.

Hypothesis 11: The greater the network effect, the greater will be the intention to adopt open Grid resources.

Figure 5-1 consequently summarizes all proposed determinants.





Figure 5-1. Theoretical model on the intention to adopt open Grid computing (Source: Author)

#### 5.4 Implications

As can be concluded from the generalizations of innovation diffusion research, adopters are influenced in different stages by different instruments and strategies (Fichman 1992, p. 2). As the open Grid market and its underlying technology is still in the experimental stage of a market, technological enhancements in order to achieve product maturity are the most important factor in this phase. Thus, it is important to closely work together with eager innovators respectively businesses in order not only to derive the necessary functionality but also to persuade companies of the benefit of an open market platform, especially since the experiences of innovators as well as early adopters determine the image and the future of the newly developed product.

Whereas innovators are technology-affine, early adopters rather see the benefits of the given innovation in their line of action and base their buying decision mostly on their own intuition and vision. They are a key factor in penetrating the market (Moore

1999, p. 12). Thus, after the technological maturity is reached, marketing and penetration of early adopters will become necessary in order to drive the adoption of open Grid resources.

Although different benefits—such as a greater amount of available resources for example—can be mentioned, the corporate attitude towards Grid computing and consequently an open Grid market is a highly influential factor. Especially perceived security concerns can jeopardize the future of an open Grid platform. Thus, it will be necessary to reduce these concerns during the very first phases of the open Grid market (experimentation and expansion).

In addition to technical changes, adjustments to—for example—management accounting or other departments of a company will become necessary if Grid computing and open Grids will be deployed. Therefore, these changes will especially be challenging for change resistant entrepreneurs and reactive or conservative companies.

The proposed model of determinants to adopt open Grid resources represents a sound tool for practitioners as well as researchers. The described findings can therefore be used to enhance the open Grid platform and the proposed determinants can be analyzed for accuracy in further research.

# 6 Conclusion

As outlined above, the increasing pressure on companies to react flexibly to market changes and stakeholder needs affects IT infrastructures in companies tremendously. IT has therefore become an important competitive factor. In this context, Grid computing proposes to horizontally integrate existing hardware. Consequently, higher utilization rates and less capital lockup are possible. Although Grid computing seems to offer a viable solution to some of the problems posed in this context, its diffusion is still significantly below of what could reasonably be expected.

The contribution of this paper to ongoing research is to define requirements for an open Grid market platform and to identify possible obstacles that hinder the deployment of open Grids in order to help reducing them in the future.

As many commercial Grid solutions are mainly deployed within single organizations, an explorative study with experienced companies and institutions within Grid computing research networks was conducted. The study focused on the attitude of companies and institutions towards economic and security-related aspects.

It was demonstrated that competitive pressures influence companies significantly. They are searching for possible IT solutions that help solving these challenges. Grid computing can therefore be seen as potential tool in order to reduce TCO without sacrificing QoS levels. Nevertheless, commercial institutions remain conservative towards the potential of Grid computing to reduce the TCO or increase the QoS. Grid computing still has yet to prove itself in commercial environments.

Moreover, security concerns hinder the deployment of open Grids tremendously. Not only technical challenges account for this fact, also soft security issues as reputation and trust have to be considered in open Grid platforms. Those that foresee potential security obstacles when sourcing external IT services tend to utilize reputation systems in order to reduce their uncertainty.

In addition, Grid computing is specifically viewed to be suitable for standardized services. A high integration with existing systems and transparent access of external resources are demanded. Furthermore, Web Services were the most known and used standard among the respondents.

In general, it can be concluded that intra-organizational Grid solutions are already in the phase of early adoption whereas open Grids still remain in the experimental stage. Although some would point out a chasm between early adopters and the mass market for Grid computing, no such chasm could be deducted. The needed efforts to create further demand in the early adopters' stage are rather lengthy and laborious. Regarding open Grid platforms, technological maturity in order to create demand for open Grid resources constitutes a key element for the success of this platform in its current stage. Nevertheless, corporate concerns have to be reduced and a close cooperation with opinion leaders is advised so that additional functionalities can be added and the open market platform can be promoted amongst commercial customers. Marketing actions and the search for important opinion leaders will be crucial later in the expansion phase in order to reduce uncertainty and objection against an open Grid

platform. This paper at hand and the developed theoretical model of determinants on the intention to adopt open Grid resources therefore hopefully present a sound basis and guidance for theoretical and practical actions in the future.

# Appendix

# A Scatter plot

	d1a2	d1b1	d1c1	d1c2	d1d1	d1d2	d1e1	d1e2	d2a1	d2a2	d2b1	d2b2	d2c1	d2c2	d2d1	d2d2	d2d3	d2e1	d2e2	d3a1	d3a2	
d1a2		:	:=:		Ξ.				::	:	: =		<b>.</b>		<b></b> .		:::			₽.		
d1b1	•••		<u> </u>	:::	<b>.</b>	<b></b> ::	<b></b>	<u>.</u>	₽.	÷	: 🗄		÷	<u></u>	<b></b> .	<b></b>	÷.		•	<b>.</b>	÷.	
d1c1	11	111		j.d <sup>2</sup>	Ш.	Щ.;	ы.	uld;	μ.	ŧ	1 6	44	ä٠.	day:	11:	₽.	đ,	11:	11.	Щį.	<b>.#</b> ;	
d1c2	11	<b>t</b> :'	Ľ.		H.,	W:	۳.	et:	μ.	1	: 3	. 😷	<u>۳</u> .	<b>2</b> 2	!!!	Ŧ.	T.	111	1':	Ľ.	11	
d1d1		<b>.</b>	HE	i.			'	.rr <sup>:</sup>	i.	i	:	·	æ.	æ	iı.	. <b>H</b> .		in	in	u <sup>i</sup> .	<sup>:</sup>	
d1d2	1.1	::·	÷	4	<b>1</b> 11 .		÷	.ju'		i			ı#."	.hl	il:	4.	÷	liı	iit	<b>1</b> .	31	
d1e1	11	111	ΈĽ	ù.E	<b>I</b> II .	ф <sup>і</sup>		.,µ <sup>11.</sup>	1.	1	: 111		3.	:# <sup>2</sup>	11:	4.	s,	111	1::	IF.	л <sup>н:</sup>	
d1e2	;11	1::	jų:	4	<b>3</b> 1.	<b>,</b> #:`	,		11:	1	1	· .#	31.	<b>.</b>	11:	4.	\$	:11	:11	<b>;</b> ]l.	.#	
d2a1		<b>.</b>								i	: :::		<b></b> .		:.:				i		.i	
d2a2	:.:	•													÷			::.	÷			
d2b1	111	i .:	H.:.	i.	H: <sup>'</sup>	m:	m	4.1	iı ı	i			u	m	i.			i	in	ni.	·11 <sup>:</sup>	
d2b2	:11	11.	Ψ.	Ŀ.þ	<b>h</b> .	<u>ب</u>	μų,	46	4.	1	· p	·	<b>#</b> .'	45	11.		Ψ.	11:	11.	H.,	·II'	
d2c1	i i i	<b>i</b> : :	#4	i.t.	i4 '	in:		der <sup>2</sup>	į,	i		·		:##:	١.	.#	.#`	i . •	1	m.	нł <sup>:</sup>	
d2c2	1:1	1::	١.	1	μ.	ļĽ,	¢.	d-r'	ja ;	1	: 10	· .4	<b>.</b>		11.	4.	#	111	111	₽.	.,#	
d2d1	: : :	:::			<b>.</b>	<u>.</u>	<u>.</u>	<u></u>	:	:	: =		÷			÷	<b>.</b>		:::	<b>.</b>	÷	
d2d2	111	<b>i</b>		i.,	įn .	ци:	iņ.	њ.:	į.	ŧ	: ;::	·	in.	nin.	ļ.·			į.,	<b>!.</b> .	<b></b> .	·##:	
d2d3	111	ŧ:.		T	ļui <sup>*</sup>	ţ۴.	in,	n:L	<b>h</b> :	ŧ	: :	·	pter'	and in	i	.#.		11.	i • •	pi.	. <b>.</b>	
d2e1		:::	-	-1	<b>.</b>	-		-	<b>:</b> :	:	: =	==	÷.			<b></b> .	÷.			<u>.</u>		Skala
d2e2					<b>.</b>	<u>.</u> :		-	Ξ.	:	: =		÷		÷ • .	<b></b> .						• 20
d3a1	in		-			<b>.</b>		÷	<b>ii</b> :	1			.# <sup>*</sup>		iı.	.# <sup>*.</sup>						• 15
d3a2	:::	<b>;</b> : :			₽.	<b>.</b>	<b>.</b>		μ.	ŧ	: =	· -#:	<b>.</b>	# <b>"</b>	Ц.	4.	÷.		<b>;</b> ; ;	<b>i</b> ti.		• 5
									_	_	_	_	_					_	_			1

Figure A-1. Scatter plot across all items

All categories that obtain more than a certain amount of responses were grouped in this figure and are represented by a dot that increases in size according to the number it represents (see legend to the right). d1a1 and d1b2 were excluded as already mentioned in Ch. 3.4.3 (Source: Author)

# C E-Mail Invitation

#### Dear

being member of the EU-project SORMA (http://www.sorma-project.org/), we're currently conducting a survey regarding the attitude of companies towards Grid Computing. Subsequently, we tend to derive user requirements for the market platform being developed.

For this reason, we're especially looking for businesses that would participate in this short online survey which can be found at http://www.wi.uni-bayreuth.de/sorma/survey/en. We would be very grateful if you could help us in contacting the in NextGRID participating companies.

The responses will of course remain confidential. Also, only anonymous data will be used for publishing purposes. If desired, each participant will receive the processed results when the study is completed.

Yours sincerely,

(Source: Author)

### **D** Survey

The questionnaire was conducted online. The online version was accessible via <u>http://www.wi.uni-bayreuth.de/sorma/survey/en</u>. Two items were presented on one page (e.g. part 1A; see Figure D-1).

#### **D.1** Questionnaire

Figure D-1. SORMA questionnaire (Page 1 of 6)

SORMA Evaluation

http://132.180.40.189/survey152/admin/admin.php?action=showprinta...



l von 6

# Figure D-1. SORMA questionnaire (Page 2 of 6)

SORMA Evaluation

http://132.180.40.189/survey152/admin/admin.php?action=showprinta..

	Strongly Disagree
115: TCO conce expenditures.	pts are sufficient for the evaluation and the management of Grid computing
-	Please choose *only one* of the following:
	Strongly A gree
	A gree
	Neutral
	Disagree
	Strongly Disagree
	1D
110: Grid comp	uting has the potential to reduce the TCO.
	Please choose *only one* of the following:
	Strongly A gree
	Agree
	Neutral
	Disagree
	Strongly Disagree
	Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree
	1E
110: Grid comp	uting has the potential to improve the Quality of Service (OoS).
Quality of service describes packet delivery gurantees provided by a network architecture (e.g. LAN or WAN). Usually related to performance gurantees, such as bandwidth and delay.	Please choose *only one* of the following:         Strongly A gree         A gree         Neutral         Disagree         Strongly Disagree
115: The intention business.	on to increase the QoS justifies the use of Grid computing applications in my
	Please choose *only one* of the following: Strongly A gree

Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree

2A

02.10.2007 17:49

2 von 6

# Figure D-1. SORMA questionnaire (Page 3 of 6)

SORMA Evaluation

http://132.180.40.189/survey152/admin/admin.php?action=showprinta...

110. 5	han a bish asiasita abaa asiasia baasa IT asasiasa
110: Security I	aas a nign priority when using in-nouse 11-services.
	Please choose *only one* of the following:
	_ Strongly Agree
	Agree
	Neutral
	Strengthe Discorreg
	_ Strongry Disagree
115: Security I	has a high priority when using external IT-services.
	Please choose *only one* of the following:
	Stronoly A gree
	Agree
	Neutral
	Disagree
	Strongly Disagree
	Stong, Jungeo
	2B
110: Security of	concerns are an obstacle for the acquisition of IT-services by an external service
provider.	- •
	Please choose *only one* of the following:
	Strongly A gree
	Agree
	Neutral
	Disagree
	Strongly Disagree
provider.	Please choose *only one* of the following: Strongly Agree Agree Neutral
	Disaonee
	Strongly Disagree
	2C
110: Grid com	puting applications are suitable for offering standardized services.
	Please choose *only one* of the following:
	Strongly Agree
	Agree
	Neutral
	Disagree
	Strongly Disagree
115 0 11	
115: Grid com	puting applications are suitable for oriering customized services.
	Please choose *only one* of the following:
	strongly A gree
	Agree
	Neutral
	Disagree
	Strongly Disagree

3 von 6

# Figure D-1. SORMA questionnaire (Page 4 of 6)

SORMA Evaluation

http://132.180.40.189/survey152/admin/admin.php?action=showprinta..

	2D
110: Informa	ation about the past behaviour of external IT-service providers is important for the
service select	ion.
	Please choose *only one* of the following:
	Strongly Agree
	Agree
	Neutral
	Disagree
	Strongly Disagree
115: I would	use publicly accessible information (e.g. in form of an ebay-like evaluation system) fo
the service se	ection.
	Please choose *only one* of the following:
	Strongly A gree
	Agree
	Neutral
	Disagree
	Strongly Disagree
120: I would service provi	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of ders.
120: I would service provi	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of ders. <u>Please choose *only one* of the following:</u> Strongly A gree
120: I would service provi	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of ders.  Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly A gree A gree
120: I would service provi	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of ders. <u>Please choose *only one* of the following:</u> Strongly Agree Agree Neutral
120: I would service provi	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of ders.    Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly A gree A gree Neutral Disagree
120: I would service provi	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of iders.  Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly A gree A gree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree
120: I would service provi	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of iders.  Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly A gree A gree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree
120: I would service provi	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of iders.    Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly A gree A gree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree   2E
120: I would service provi 110: The foll	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of ders.   Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly A gree A gree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree  2E owing standards for internal and external communication are being used in my
120: I would service provi 110: The foll business.	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of iders.    Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly A gree  A gree  A gree  Neutral  Disagree  Strongly Disagree
120: I would service provi 110: The foll business.	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of iders.  Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly Agree Agree Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree <b>2E</b> owing standards for internal and external communication are being used in my Please choose *all* that apply:
120: I would service provi 110: The foli business.	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of iders.  Please choose *only one* of the following: Strongly Agree Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree  2E owing standards for internal and external communication are being used in my Please choose *all* that apply: SOA Standards
120: I would service provi 110: The foll business.	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of iders.   Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly A gree A gree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree
120: I would service provi 110: The foll business.	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of iders.    Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly A gree A gree A gree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree
120: I would service provi 110: The foll business.	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of ders.  Please choose *only one* of the following: Strongly A gree A gree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree  2E owing standards for internal and external communication are being used in my Please choose *all* that apply: SOA Standards Web Services CORBA Individual X ML messages
120: I would service provi 110: The foll business.	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of iders.    Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly A gree  A gree  Neutral  Disagree  Strongly Disagree
120: I would service provi 110: The foll business.	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of iders.   Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly A gree A gree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree <b>2E</b> owing standards for internal and external communication are being used in my  Please choose *all* that apply: SOA Standards Web Services CORBA Individual X ML messages EDI Idoc
120: I would service provi 110: The foll business.	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of iders.    Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly A gree A gree A gree Disagree Strongly Disagree
120: I would service provi 110: The foll business.	publicly make available my personal experience regarding the trustworthiness of iders.    Please choose *only one* of the following:  Strongly A gree A gree Neutral Disagree

Please choose \*only o Strongly Agree Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly Disagree

4 von 6

# Figure D-1. SORMA questionnaire (Page 5 of 6)

#### SORMA Evaluation

http://132.180.40.189/survey152/admin/admin.php?action=showprinta...

120: External se	rvices should be accessed transparently.
Recordless of how	
resource access	
and representation	Please choose *only one* of the following:
performed on each	Strongly A gree
individual	A gree
computing entity, the users of a Grid	Neutral
computing system	Disagree
should always	Strongly Disagree
access resources in	Subligiy Disagioe
a single, uniform way,	
	3
* 110: In the fut	ure, Grid computing will play a decisive role in the IT sector.
	Please choose *only one* of the following:
	Strongly A gree
	Agree
	Neutral
	Disagree
	Strongly Disagree
* 115: In the fut	ure, Grid computing will play a decisive role in my business.
	Please choose *only one* of the following:
	Strongly A gree
	A gree
	Neutral
	Disagree
	Strongly Disagree
* 120: Which in	ductrial sector does your business belong to?
• 120, which hi	Dia sea write your answer bere:
	Piease write your answer nere.
* 125: How mar	wemployees work for your business?
	Please choose *only one* of the following:
	1-10
	11-50
	51-250
	251-500
	501 1000
	>1000
	>1000
* 130: In which	department do vou work?
	Please write your answer here:
	These write your answer nere.
	I
* 135: Which ro	le does your business play with regard to Grid computing?
Loss of mell 10	Please choose *all* that annly
	IT. Sancice Droutdar
	Application Provider

IT-Service Consumer

5 von 6

	Figure D-1. SORMA questionnaire (Page 6 of 6)
SORMA Evaluation	http://132.180.40.189/survey152/admin/admin.php?action=showprinta
	Other:
* 140: Which	country are you from?
	Please write your answer here:
145: Leave u	s your email if you are interested in the survey results
	Please write your answer here:
	Submit Your Survey. Thank you for completing this survey. Please far, your completed survey to:
	Thank you to completing this survey. Thease fax your completed survey to .

## 6 von 6

02.10.2007 17:49

(Source: Author, based on printout of LimeSurvey-software 1.52)

# D.2 Item Description

# Table D-1. Summary of propositions and survey items

Category	Proposition	<b>Description of Proposition</b>	Item	Description of Item
			d1a1	I'm familiar with the idea of Grid computing.
			d1a2	Grid computing infrastructures are already being used in my enterprise.
	Proposition 1	TCO concepts are deployed since being important for the evaluation of the profitability	d1b1	Total Cost of Ownership concepts are being used in my business in order to evaluate the efficiency of IT investments.
	-	of IT investments	d1c2	(N=22)
	Proposition 2	TCO concepts in their actual form are not	d1c1	TCO concepts are sufficient for the evaluation and the management of IT-costs.
Economic	· F	sufficient for the deployment in Grid computing	d1c2	TCO concepts are sufficient for the evaluation and the management of Grid computing expenditures.
Aspects			d1d1	Grid computing has the potential to reduce the TCO.
	Proposition 3	Grid computing can be used for reducing TCO	d1d2	The intention to reduce TCO justifies the use of Grid computing applications in my business.
	D :: 4	Grid computing can be used to increase the	d1e1	Grid computing has the potential to improve the Quality of Service (QoS).
	Proposition 4	Quality of Service (QoS)	d1e2	The intention to increase the QoS justifies the use of Grid
			ure2	computing applications in my business.
	Proposition 5	Security aspects are important for companies'	d2a1	Security has a high priority when using in-house IT-services.
		internal and external usage of Ord computing	d2a2	Security has a high priority when using external IT-services.
		Security concerns hinder the deployment of	d2b1	Security concerns are an obstacle for the acquisition of IT-
	Proposition 6	externally sourced IT services		Security concerns are an obstacle for the acquisition of IT-
			d2b2	services by a department service provider.
			-10 - 1	Grid computing applications are suitable for offering
	Proposition 7	Grid computing is more suitable for standardized	d2c1	standardized services.
Security-	roposition ,	services than individual services	d2c2	Grid computing applications are suitable for offering customized
related and				services.
Aspects	Proposition 8	Feedback rating systems are important for the	d2d1	providers is important for the service selection.
	· F - · · · · · ·	selection of IT service providers		I would use publicly accessible information (e.g. in form of an
		No differences exist between passive and active	d2d2	ebay-like evaluation system) for the service selection.
	Proposition 9	usage of public feedback rating systems	d2d3	I would publicly make available my personal experience regarding trustworthiness of service providers.
		A high integration of Grid computing		A high integration of grid computing applications into existing
	Proposition 10	applications into existing implementations is	d2e2	implementations is important.
	Proposition 11	External services should be accessed transparently	d2e3	External services should be accessed transparently.
Future			d3a1	In the future, Grid computing will play a decisive role in the IT sector
expectations			d3a2	In the future, Grid computing will play a decisive role in my business.
			d3b1	Which industrial sector does your business belong to?
			d3b2	How many employees work for your business?
Demographic			d3b3	In which department do you work?
Variables				Role of company in Grid computing:
			d3b4	(IT-service provider, IT-application provider, IT-service
			d3b5	Country
			u. 05	Country

# E Industrial Sectors and NACE codes (European Commission 2008)

NACE code	Description	Analysis Cluster
DK.29.00	Manufacture of machinery and equipment n.e.c.	Machinery and Engineering
DM.34.00	Manufacture of motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers	Automotivo
DM.34.30	Manufacture of parts and accessories for motor vehicles and their engines	Automotive
1.62.00	Air transport	Air transport
1.64.20	Telecommunications	Telecommunications
J.65.12	Other monetary intermediation	Finance / Banking
K.72.22	Other software consultancy and supply	Software development
K.73.10	Research and experimental development on natural sciences and engineering	Research
K.74.14	Business and management consultancy activities	Consulting
M.80.30	Higher education	University
N.85.10	Human health activities	Health

Table E-1. Clustered Industrial Sectors for Data Analysis

(Source: Author, based on European Commission (2008))

- Data Tables Ŀ,
- F.1 Correlations

# Table F-1. Inter-Item Correlations

		Kendall's tau(b)   N=24 d	ilal dl.	a2 d1b	1 d1b2	dlc1	dlc2 d	p IbII	ld2 d	lel di	e2 d2	ul d2a	2 d2b	d2b2	d2c1	d2c2	d2d1	d2d2	d2d3	d2e2	d2e3	d3a1 c	3a2
dlal	Familiar with Grid commuting (grouped)	Correlation Coefficient																				_	
THIN	Turinan win one comparing Broaber)	Sig. (2-tailed)			_		_	_	_													_	
d1a2	Grid computing infrastructures already in use (grouped)	Correlation Coefficient Sig. (2-tailed)		-						_	_												
	Total Cost of Ownership concepts are being used in my business	Correlation Coefficient		0.44	_																		
dlbl	in order to evaluate the efficiency of IT investments.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.02 .																			
1.1.1	TCO concepts are sufficient for the evaluation and the	Correlation Coefficient		0.10 6	02	1																	
1310	management of IT-costs.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.59 0	- 16			-	_		_	_									-	_	
Co14	TCO concepts are sufficient for the evaluation and the	Correlation Coefficient	_	0.01 6	90	0.57	1																
7010	management of Grid computing expenditures.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.98 0.	75	0.00																	
4141	Gid commiting has the notential to reduce the TCO	Correlation Coefficient		0.63 (	.28	-0.20	-0.19	1	_	_	_	_	_		_	_					_	_	
TREP	one with the me the potential to react the 100.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.00 (	II	0.26	0.28 .	_	_														
d1d2	The intention to reduce TCO justifies the use of Grid computing	Correlation Coefficient		0.62	26	0:00	0.04	0.71	-	_	_												
7010	applications in my business.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.00 C	14	0.98	0.82	0.00															
1.1.1	Grid computing has the potential to improve the Quality of	Correlation Coefficient		0.42 0.	90	-0.03	0.13	0.57	0.46	1													
nici	Service (QoS).	Sig. (2-tailed)	_	0.02 6	72	0.87	0.44	0.00	0.01														
Co11	The intention to increase the QoS justifies the use of Grid	Correlation Coefficient		0.53 0	.14	0.08	0.13	0.64	0.72	0.74	1												
791 D	computing applications in my business.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.00	.42	0.65	0.47	0.00	0.00	0.00 .	_	_	_								-		
5		Correlation Coefficient		0.01 6	01	0.31	0.18	0.20	0.07	0.26	0.28	1											
0.2a1	Security has a high phontly when using in-house 11-services.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.95 0	98	0.10	0.33	0.28	0.71	0.15	0.13 .												
2		Correlation Coefficient	-	0.18 -6	18	0.18	0.10	-0.07	-0.01	0.06	0.17	0.41	1		_							_	
7870	security has a nigh phonety when using external 11-services.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.36 0	34	0.35	0.62	0.71	0.97	0.75	0.38	0.04											
1-1017	Security concerns are an obstacle for the acquisition of IT-	Correlation Coefficient	7	0.17 -6	31	-0.31	-0.42	0.08	0.14	-0.08	r 10.0	).16 (	0.10	1									
107 <b>n</b>	services by an external service provider.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.35 0	08	0.08	0.02	0.67	0.43	0.66	0.96	).38 (	. 59 .										
CHCP	Security concerns are an obstacle for the acquisition of IT-	Correlation Coefficient	1	0.07 -0	21	-0.21	-0.03	0.00	-0.04	0.10	0.03	).24 (	0.06 0	14	1								
7070	services by a department service provider.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.69 (	22	0.22	0.87	1.00	0.83	0.56	0.85	0.20 (	0.75 0	. 14							-	-	
1.01	Grid computing applications are suitable for offering standardized	1 Correlation Coefficient		0.10 6	10	-0.22	-0.18	0.36	0.25	0.33 (	0.32	).27 (	0.07 0	21 -0.1	5	1							
177N	services.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.60 0.	98	0.22	0.31	0.05	0.15	0.06	0.07	).15 (	0.71 0	24 0.3	. 8								
COCP	Grid computing applications are suitable for offering customized	Correlation Coefficient		0.32 0	90	-0.20	0.03	0.39	0.25	0.38	0.38 -1	0 10.0	0 80.0	00 0.2	6 0.2	6 1							
777 D	services.	Sig. (2-tailed)	-	0.07 0.	72	0.24	0.85	0.03	0.15	0.03	0.03	.98 (	0 0).	98 0.1	4 0.1	0 .							
1041	Information about the past behaviour of external IT-service	Correlation Coefficient	ī	0.17 -0	.18	-0.08	-0.02	0.03	0.13	-0.08	0.05	0.12 (	0.03 0	26 -0.0	9 -0.1	6 -0.08	1						
1N7N	providers is important for the service selection.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.36 C	33	0.65	0.93	0.88	0.48	0.67	0.80	).52 (	0.90 0	17 0.6	3 0.4	0 0.67							
CPCP	I would use publicly accessible information (e.g. in form of an	Correlation Coefficient	i	0.01 -6	19	0.01	-0.16	0.05	0.11	-0.25	0.03	). 16 -(	0 0	38 -0.0	6 0.3	9 -0.17	0.14	1			_	_	
7070	ebay-like evaluation system) for the service selection.	Sig. (2-tailed)	-	0.98 0.	31	0.95	0.38	0.79	0.53	0.17	0.86	).41 (	0.33 0	04 0.7	8 0.0	4 0.35	0.47						
CPCP	I would publicly make available my personal experience regarding	ζ Correlation Coefficient	_	0.06 -0	20	0.09	0.14	0.21	0.22	0.27	0.25	)- 04	0.16 -0	02 -0.1	2 0.3	0.07	0.11	0.38	1				
cn7n	trustworthiness of service providers.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.73 C	27	0.61	0.43	0.24	0.21	0.13 0	0.16	).81 (	0.42 0	91 0.5	2 0.1	0 0.67	0.57	0.04					
Crur	A high integration of grid computing applications into existing	Correlation Coefficient		0.01 6	29	-0.21	-0.10	0.12	0.16	0.06	0.10	)- 05 -(	0.30 0	19 -0.1	5 0.2	7 0.05	0.31	0.11	0.07	1			
7.37 N	implementations is important.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.95 0.	12	0.25	09.0	0.53	0.39	0.76	0.57 (	) 79 (	0.13 0	30 0.4	1 0.1	4 0.80	0.11	0.57	0.70				
C° CF	This and some should be assessed for an and the second for the second se	Correlation Coefficient		0.32 0	46	0.07	0.18	0.32	0.29	0.26	0.25	). 10 -(	0- 101	26 -0.0	9 0.1	3 0.27	0.05	-0.13	0.11	0.19	1		
07C)	Exiciliai services silound de accessed tians parentry.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.09 0	01	0.69	0.32	0.08	0.11	0.14	0.16	).59 (	0.73 0	17 0.6	3 0.4	8 0.13	0.79	0.49	0.55	0.31	_	_	
13.1	In the future, Grid computing will play a decisive role in the IT	Correlation Coefficient	-	0.26 6	104	-0.05	60.0	0.27	0.07	0.24	0.29	).14 (	0- 60'(	26 0.1	4 0.4	Z 0.46	-0.21	0.22	0.14	-0.09	0.31	1	
TPCD	sector.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.16 0.	82	0.78	0.63	0.14	0.68	0.17	0.10	).45 (	).65 0	15 0.4	2 0.0	1 0.01	0.26	0.24	0.45	0.64	0.09		
4207	In the future, Grid computing will play a decisive role in my	Correlation Coefficient		0.44 0.	12	0.09	0.16	0.38	0.24	0.42	0.45	).12 (	0- 10'(	17 0.1	4 0.3	0 0.53	-0.38	-0.04	0.11	-0.08	0.29	0.61	1
7BCD	business.	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.02 0	51	0.63	0.37	0.04	0.18	0.02	0.01	).51 (	0 76.0	35 0.4	5 0.1	0.00	0.04	0.84	0.56	0.66	0.13	0.00 .	

# F.2 Contingency Table (Private versus Public)

Table F-2. Contingency table of items segmented by private / public sector as well as SME / enterprises

Iten	ns		Private	e		Public	:	Total	Iten	ns		Private			Public		Total
(Par	tI)	SME	>250	Total	SME	>250	Total		(Part	II)	SME	>250	Total	SME	>250	Total	
		%	%	%	%	%	%	%			%	%	%	%	%	%	%
d1c1	+	40	57	47	33	0	14	38	d2c1	+	90	43	71	67	75	71	71
	0	20	29	24	33	75	57	33		0	10	29	18	33	25	29	21
	-	40	14	29	33	25	29	29		-	0	29	12	0	0	0	8
d1c2	+	30	29	29	0	0	0	21	d2c2	+	40	43	41	67	50	57	46
	0	0	14	6	0	50	29	13		0	40	0	24	33	25	29	25
	-	70	57	65	100	50	71	67		-	20	57	35	0	25	14	29
d1 d1	+	70	43	59	100	100	100	71	d2d1	+	90	100	94	67	75	71	88
	о	30	43	35	0	0	0	25		0	10	0	6	33	25	29	13
	-	0	14	6	0	0	0	4		-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
d1 d2	+	60	57	59	33	75	57	58	d2d2	+	50	57	53	33	50	43	50
	о	30	14	24	33	25	29	25		0	50	14	35	67	50	57	42
	-	10	29	18	33	0	14	17		-	0	29	12	0	0	0	8
d1e1	+	40	29	35	67	75	71	46	d2d3	+	30	29	29	33	75	57	38
	0	30	43	35	33	0	14	29		0	50	57	53	67	25	43	50
	-	30	29	29	0	25	14	25		-	20	14	18	0	0	0	13
d1e2	+	40	57	47	67	75	71	54	d2e2	+	100	86	94	33	75	57	83
	0	20	0	12	0	25	14	13		0	0	14	6	67	25	43	17
	-	40	43	41	33	0	14	33		-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
d2a1	+	100	86	94	67	75	71	88	d2e3	+	90	86	88	67	75	71	83
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	10	14	12	33	25	29	17
	-	0	14	6	33	25	29	13		-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
d2a2	+	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	d3a1	+	80	43	65	100	100	100	75
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		0	20	43	29	0	0	0	21
	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		-	0	14	6	0	0	0	4
d2b1	+	60	71	65	33	75	57	63	d3a2	+	50	43	47	100	75	86	58
	0	40	14	29	67	25	43	33		0	40	43	41	0	25	14	33
	-	0	14	6	0	0	0	4		-	10	14	12	0	0	0	8
d2b2	+	0	43	18	0	50	29	21									
	0	50	14	35	33	25	29	33									
	-	50	43	47	67	25	43	46									
Numbe	ers	10	7	17	3	4	7	24	Numbe	ers	10	7	17	3	4	7	24
# Significance Test of 3x2 Contingency Tables (Private versus Public Sector) F.3

**Table F.3.** Significance of 3x2 contingency tables (private and public sectors). H(O;U) represents the null hypothesis regarding independence.  $P' = \sum p$  represents the probability of each possible table with the same marginal total. c corresponds to the probability of the table with that the sum of p reaches or exceeds  $\alpha$ 

$\begin{array}{c ccccc} & Priv & Publ & Total \\ + & 8 & 5 & 13 \\ o & 2 & 1 & 3 \\ - & 7 & 1 & 8 \\ Total & 17 & 7 & 24 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Σ p       p         0%       0.000         0%       0.000         0%       0.000         0%       0.000	0% 0.001 0% 0.002 1% 0.002 2% 0.006 2% 0.006 3% 0.006 4% 0.007	4%     0.008       5%     0.011       6%     0.013       8%     0.013       8%     0.013       11%     0.038       15%     0.047       25%     0.047       27%     0.047       28%     0.047       27%     0.047       28%     0.069       31%     0.068       37%     0.008       57%     0.104       69%     0.114       69%     0.114       69%     0.114       69%     0.114       60%     0.1174
dl e2	Reject H P			
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Σ p       p         0%       0.000         0%       0.000         0%       0.000         0%       0.000	0% 0.000 0% 0.001 0% 0.001 0% 0.001 0% 0.001 1% 0.002 1% 0.002	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	X p       p         0%       0.000         0%       0.000         0%       0.000         0%       0.000	1% 0.006 4% 0.029 7% 0.036 11% 0.036 17% 0.036 3% 0.103 3% 0.107 52% 0.103	52% 0.138 73% 0.215 100% 0.268
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Σ p       p         0%       0.000         0%       0.000         0%       0.000         0%       0.000	0% 0.000 0% 0.001 0% 0.001 1% 0.002 1% 0.002 1% 0.002 1% 0.002	1%       0.003         2%       0.004         2%       0.005         3%       0.006         4%       0.008         5%       0.008         6%       0.010         7%       0.010         7%       0.013         6%       0.013         117%       0.025         12%       0.023         12%       0.023         17%       0.025         24%       0.021         17%       0.025         24%       0.017         12%       0.021         13%       0.025         24%       0.021         25%       0.012         26%       0.011         63%       0.012         63%       0.012         63%       0.102         63%       0.102         63%       0.102         63%       0.112         86%       0.1122         1000%       0.1122

### F.4 Significance Test of 3x2 Contingency Tables (SME versus Enterprises)

**Table F-4.** Significance test of 3x2 contingency tables (SME versus enterprises). H(O;U) represents the null hypothesis regarding independence.  $P' = \sum p$  represents the probability of each possible table with the same marginal total. c corresponds to the probability of the table with that the sum of p reaches or exceeds  $\alpha$ 



S-	6
[g]	10
late	
Re	ues
ity-	S
Cun	
Se	
pu	
сa	
Ē	
onc	
Б	
rds	
wa	
5 to	
ides	
titu	
At	
ate	
юd	
G	
of (	
dy ,	
Stu	
Ŋ	
ato	
lor	
Exp	
۲u]	
s: ⊱	
ise	
idi	
Bute	
Ηp	
lize	
- E	
liu	
Чe	
l pr	
lar	
mal	
S	
ы. В	
ıtin	
npr	
Cot	
id (	
5	

# Significance Test of 2x2 Contingency Tables F.S

**Table F-5.** Significance tests of 2x2 contingency tables (Private versus Public and SME versus enterprises). All tests are one-tailed. For all tables being more extreme than the one that was obtained from the survey the respective probability was calculated (shown under each item number). All probabilities were added. If the sum of these probabilities was greater than the predefined value for  $\alpha=0.05$ , the null-hypothesis could not be rejected

Private vs Public d1c1 Priv Publ		<b>d1d1</b> Priv Pu	5	dle1 Priv Publ	dle2 Priv Publ	d2e2 Priv Publ	<b>d3a1</b> Priv Publ	<b>d3a2</b> Priv Publ
0.13015 + 8 1 0.1- 9 6 1 17 7 2	9 15 24	0.05619 + 10 0/- 7	7 17 0 7 7 24	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.20452 + 8 5 13 o/- 9 2 11 17 24	0.05599 + 16 4 20 0/- 1 3 4 17 7 24	0.09195 + 11 7 18 o/- 6 0 6 17 7 24	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$
0.01859 + 9 0 0.1.859 + 8 7 1 17 2	9 15 24			0.01735 + 5 6 11 0/- 12 1 13 17 7 24	$\begin{array}{rrrrr} 0.05454 + & 7 & 6 & 13 \\ 0.05454 - & 10 & 1 & 11 \\ 0.7 & 7 & 24 \end{array}$	0.00329 + 17 3 20 o/- 0 4 4 17 7 24		$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
				0.00095 + 4 7 11 o/- 13 0 13 17 7 24	0.00496 + 6 7 13 o/- 11 0 11 17 7 24			
0.14874		0.05619		0.12243	0.26402	0.05929	0.09195	0.09668
SME vs Enterprises d1c1 SME >250 0.30234 + 4 4	∞	d1d1 SME >2: 0.21596 + 7	50 3 10	<b><u>d2b2</u></b> SME >250 0.05147 + 0 3 3	<mark>d2c1</mark> SME >250 0.05656 + 9 3 12	<b>d3a1</b> SME >250 0.12726 + 8 3 11		
0/- 6 3 10 7 1	9	o/- 3 10	4 7 17	0/- 10 4 14 10 7 17	o/- 1 4 5 10 7 17	o/- 2 4 6 10 7 17		
0.10366 + 3 5 o/- 7 2 10 7 1	8 9 17	0.04859 + 8 0/- 2 10	2 10 5 7 17		0.00339 + 10 2 12 o/- 0 5 5 10 7 17	0.01697 + 9 2 11 0./- 1 5 6 10 7 17		
0.01296 + 2 6 0.1 0 8 1 10 7 1	8 9 17	0.0036 + 9 0./- 1 10	1 10 6 7 7 17			$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		
0.00041 + 1 7 0/- 9 0 10 7 1	8 17	5.1E-05 + 10 o/- 0	0 10 7 7 7 17					
0.41937		0.2682		0.05147	0.05995	0.1448		

### References

- 451 Group: "Report Nine: Grid Computing Adoption in the Manufacturing Sector," 2006 [Online], Available: <u>http://www.the451group.com/gars/gars\_detail.php?icid=173</u> [Accessed: 12 Feb 2008].
- Abbas, A.: *Grid Computing: A Practical Guide to Technology and Applications* Charles River Media, Hingham, MA, USA, 2004, p. 408.
- Abdi, H.: "The Kendall Rank Correlation Coefficient," in: *Encyclopedia of Measurement and Statistics*, N. Salkind (ed.) Sage, Thousand Oaks, CA, USA, 2007, pp. 508-510.
- Akerlof, G. A.: "The Market for "Lemons": Quality Uncertainty and the Market Mechanism," in: *Readings in Social Welfare: Theory and Policy*, R.E. Kuenne (ed.) Blackwell, Malden, MA, USA, 2000, pp. 163-174.
- Alba, J., Lynch, J., Weitz, B., Janiszewski, C., Lutz, R., Sawyer, A., and Wood, S.: "Interactive Home Shopping: Consumer, Retailer, and Manufacturer Incentives to Participate in Electronic Marketplaces," *Journal of Marketing* (61:3) 1997, pp. 38-53.
- Allen, J. P.: "Information systems as technological innovation," *Information Technology & People* (13:3) 2000, pp. 210-221.
- Altmann, J., and Routzounis, S.: "Economic Modeling of Grid Services," 2006 [Online], Available: <u>http://it.i-u.de/schools/altmann/?page\_id=10</u> [Accessed: 13 Feb 2008].
- Altmann, J., Ion, M., and Bany Mohammed, A. A.: "Taxonomy of Grid Business Models," in: Grid Economics and Business Models: 4th international workshop; proceedings / GECON 2007, Rennes, France, August 28, 2007, J. Altmann and D.J. Veit (eds.) Springer, Berlin et al., 2007, pp. 29-43.
- Altmann, J., and Veit, D. J.: Grid Economics and Business Models: 4th international workshop; proceedings / GECON 2007, Rennes, France, August 28, 2007 Springer, Berlin et al., 2007.
- Andrzejak, A., Arlitt, M., and Rolia, J.: "Bounding the Resource Savings of Utility Computing Models," Report No. HPL-2002-339, Hewlett-Packard Laboratories, Palo Alto, CA, USA, 2002 [Online], Available:

http://www.zib.de/andrzejak/my-papers/HPL-2002-339.pdf [Accessed: 26 Feb 2008].

- Babbie, E.: The Practice of Social Research, (7th ed.) Wadsworth Publishing, Belmont et al., CA, USA, 1995.
- Baltes-Götz, B.: "Statistisches Praktikum mit SPSS 15 für Windows," 2007 [Online], Available: <u>http://www-alt.uni-</u> trier.de/urt/user/baltes/docs/spss/v15/spss15.pdf [Accessed: 22 Feb 2008].
- BEinGRID: "Business Experiments in Grid: Market Place," 2008 [Online], Available: <u>http://www.beingrid.eu/191.html</u> [Accessed: 29 Feb 2008].
- Bensaou, M., and Venkatraman, N.: "Inter-organizational Relationship and Information Technology: a Conceptual Synthesis and a Research Framework," *European Journal of Information Systems* (5:2) 1996, pp. 84-91.
- Bhattacherjee, A.: "Individual Trust in Online Firms: Scale Development and Initial Test," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (19:1) 2002, pp. 211-241.
- Bieberstein, N., Bose, S., Fiammante, M., Jones, K., and Shah, R.: Service-oriented architecture compass : business value, planning, and enterprise roadmap IBM Press, Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA, 2006.
- Bortz, J.: *Statistik für Sozialwissenschaftler*, (5th, completely revised and updated ed.) Springer, Berlin et al., 1999, p. 836.
- Bortz, J., and Lienert, G. A.: *Kurzgefasste Statistik für die klinische Forschung: Leitfaden für die verteilungsfreie Analyse kleiner Stichproben*, (2nd ed.) Springer, Berlin et al., 2003, p. 426.
- Bortz, J., and Döring, N.: Forschungsmethoden und Evaluation: für Human- und Sozialwissenschaftler, (4th, revised ed.) Springer, Berlin et al., 2006.
- Brinkløv, M., and Sharp, R.: "Incremental Trust in Grid Computing," Proceedings of the Seventh IEEE International Symposium on Cluster Computing and the Grid, IEEE Computer Society, 2007, pp. 135-144.
- Buyya, R., Abramson, D., and Venugopal, S.: "The Grid Economy," *Proceedings of the IEEE* (93:3) 2005, pp. 698-714.
- Cahill, V., Gray, E., Seigneur, J.-M., Jensen, C. D., Chen, Y., Shand, B., Dimmock, N., Twigg, A., Bacon, J., English, C., Wagealla, W., Terzis, S., Nixon, P., Serugendo, G. d. M., Bryce, C., Carbone, M., Krukow, K., and Nielsen, M.:

"Using Trust for Secure Collaboration in Uncertain Environments," *IEEE Pervasive Computing* (2:3) 2003, pp. 52-61.

- Carr, N. G.: "The End of Corporate Computing," *MIT Sloan Management Review* (46:3) 2005, pp. 67-73.
- Cavaye, A. L. M.: "Implementation of Customer Oriented Systems," *European Jour*nal of Information Systems (5:2) 1996, pp. 103-119.
- Chuba, M., and Claunch, C.: "What Grid Computing Is Really About," 2006 [Online], Available: <u>http://www.gartner.com/DisplayDocument?doc\_cd=138888</u> [Accessed: 12 Feb 2008].
- Chwelos, P., Benbasat, I., and Dexter, A. S.: "Research Report: Empirical Test of an EDI Adoption Model," *Information Systems Research* (12:3) 2001, pp. 304-321.
- Clemons, E. K., and Row, M. C.: "Limits to interfirm coordination through information technology: Results of a field study in consumer packaged goods distribution," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (10:1) 1993, pp. 73-95.
- Cohen, J.: Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences, (2nd ed.) Erlbaum, Hillsdale, NJ, USA et al., 1988.
- Cohen, W. M., and Levinthal, D. A.: "Absorptive Capacity: A New Perspective On Learning And Innovation," *Administrative Science Quarterly* (35:1) 1990, pp. 128-152.
- David, J. S., Schuff, D., and Louis, R. S.: "Managing Your Total Cost of Ownership," Communications of the ACM (45:1) 2002, pp. 101-106.
- Davis, F. D.: "Perceived Usefulness, Perceived Ease of Use, and User Acceptance of Information Technology," *MIS Quarterly* (13:3) 1989, pp. 319-340.
- Ehrenberg, A. S. C.: Das Reduzieren der Zahlen: Statistische Analyse und Interpretation Bund, Colone, 1976.
- Einwiller, S.: "When Reputation Engenders Trust: An Empirical Investigation in Business-to-ConsumerElectronic Commerce," *Electronic Markets* (13:3) 2003, pp. 196-209.
- Erlei, M.: Institution, Märkte und Marktphasen: allgemeine Transaktionskostentheorie unter spezieller Berücksichtigung der Entwicklungsphasen von Märkten Mohr Siebeck, Tübingen, 1998.

- European Commission: "Commission Recommendation of 6 May 2003 concerning the definition of micro, small and medium-sized enterprises," *Official Journal of the European Union* (L 124), 20. May 2003, pp. 36-41.
- European Commission: "List of NACE codes," 2008 [Online], Available: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/comm/competition/mergers/cases/index/nace\_all.html</u> [Accessed: 21 Jan 2008].
- Eymann, T., König, S., and Matros, R.: "A Framework for Trust and Reputation in Grid Environments," *Journal of Grid Computing* (forthcoming) 2008.
- Falcone, R., and Castelfranchi, C.: "Social trust: a cognitive approach," in: *Trust and deception in virtual societies*, C. Castelfranchi and Y.-H. Tan (eds.) Kluwer, Dordrecht et al., 2001, pp. 55-90.
- Fenn, J., and Linden, A.: "Gartner's Hype Cycle Special Report for 2005," 2005 [Online], Available: <u>http://www.gartner.com/resources/130100/130115/gartners\_hype\_c.pdf</u> [Acccessed: 12 Feb 2008].
- Fichert, F.: "Wettbewerbspolitik im digitalen Zeitalter Öffnung vermachteter Märkte virtueller Netzwerkgüter," 2002 [Online], Available: <u>http://www.waltereucken-institut.de/veranstaltungen/workshop2002/Fichert-Paper.pdf</u> [Accessed: 12 Feb 2008].
- Fichman, R. G.: "Information Technology Diffusion: A Review of Empirical Research," Proceedings of the Thirteenth International Conference on Information Systems) 1992, pp. 195-206.
- Fichman, R. G.: "The Diffusion and Assimilation of Information Technology Innovations," in: *Framing the domains of IT management: projecting the future ... through the past*, R.W. Zmud (ed.) Pinnaflex, Cincinatti, OH, USA, 2000.
- Forge, S., and Blackman, C.: "Commercial Exploitation of Grid Technologies and Services," SCF Associates for European Commission / DG Information Society and Media, 2006 [Online], Available: <u>http://cordis.europa.eu/ist/grids/pub-report.htm</u> [Accessed.
- Foster, I., Kesselman, C., Tsudik, G., and Tuecke, S.: "A security architecture for computational grids," in: *Proceedings of the 5th ACM conference on Computer and communications security*, 1998, ACM Press, San Francisco, CA, USA, pp. 83-92.
- Foster, I., and Kesselman, C.: "Computational Grids," in: *The Grid: Blueprint for a New Computing Infrastructure*, I. Foster and C. Kesselman (eds.) Morgan Kauffmann, San Fransisco, CA, USA, 1999, pp. 15-51.

- Foster, I., Kesselman, C., and Tuecke, S.: "The Anatomy of the Grid: Enabling Scalable Virtual Organizations," *International Journal of High Performance Computing Applications* (15:3) 2001, pp. 200-222.
- Foster, I.: "What is the Grid? A Three Point Checklist," 2002 [Online], Available: <u>http://www-fp.mcs.anl.gov/~foster/Articles/WhatIsTheGrid.pdf</u> [Accessed: 29 Sep 2007].
- Foster, I., Kesselman, C., Nick, J. M., and Tuecke, S.: "Grid Services for Distributed System Integration," *Computer* (35:6) 2002a, pp. 37-46.
- Foster, I., Kesselman, C., Nick, J. M., and Tuecke, S.: "The physiology of the Grid," in: *Grid Computing - Making the Global Infrastructure a Reality*, F. Berman, T. Hey and G. Fox (eds.) Wiley, Chichester, 2002b, pp. 217-250.
- Foster, I., and Kesselman, C. (eds.): The Grid: Blueprint for a New Computing Infrastructure. (2nd ed.) Elsevier/Morgan Kaufmann, San Francisco, CA, USA, 2004.
- Foster, I., and Tuecke, S.: "Describing the Elephant: The Different Faces of IT as Service," *Queue* (3:6) 2005, pp. 26-34.
- Freeman, L. C.: "Centrality on Social Networks: Conceptual Clarification," Social Networks (1) 1979, pp. 215-239.
- Gadatsch, A., and Mayer, E.: Masterkurs IT-Controlling, (3rd ed.) Vieweg, Wiesbaden, 2006.
- Gambetta, D.: "Can we trust trust," in: *Trust: Making and Breaking Cooperative Relations*, D. Gambetta (ed.) Department of Sociology, University of Oxford, 2000, pp. 213-237.
- Göhner, M., Waldburger, M., Gubler, F., Rodosek, G. D., and Stiller, B.: "An Accounting Model for Dynamic Virtual Organizations," Technical Report No. 2006.11, University of Zurich - Department of Informatics (IFI), Zurich, 2006.
- Gotsi, M., and Wilson, A. M.: "Corporate reputation: seeking a definition," *Corporate Communications: An International Journal* (6:1) 2001, pp. 24-30.
- Grabner-Kräuter, S., and Kaluscha, E. A.: "Empirical research in on-line trust: a review and critical assessment," *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies* (58:6) 2003, pp. 783-812.
- Granovetter, M.: "Economic Action and Social Structure: The Problem of Embeddedness," *The American Journal of Sociology* (91:3) 1985, pp. 481-510.

- Grid Technology Partners: "The Global Grid Computing Report 2002 Technology and Market Assessment," 2002 [Online], Available: <u>http://www.gridpartners.com/publications.html</u> [Accessed: 12 Feb 2008].
- Hartung, J., Elpelt, B., and Klösener, K.-H.: Statistik : Lehr- und Handbuch der angewandten Statistik ; mit zahlreichen, vollständig durchgerechneten Beispielen, (12th ed.) Oldenbourg, Munich et al., 1999.
- Heuß, E.: Allgemeine Markttheorie Mohr (Siebeck), Tübingen, 1965.
- Hoffman, D. L., Novak, T. P., and Peralta, M. A.: "Information Privacy in the Marketspace: Implications for the Commercial Uses of Anonymity on the Web," *The Information Society* (15:2) 1999, pp. 129-139.
- Hofmann, M., and Beaumont, L.: *Content Networking: Architecture, Protocols, and Practice* Morgan Kaufmann, Amsterdam et al., 2005, p. 358.
- Horngren, C. T., Datar, S. M., and Foster, G.: Cost Accounting A Managerial Emphasis, (12th ed.) Pearson Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA, 2006.
- Humphrey, M., Thompson, M. R., and Jackson, K. R.: "Security for grids," Proceedings of the IEEE (93:3) 2005, pp. 644-652.
- Hwang, J., and Park, J.: "Decision Factors of Enterprises for Adopting Grid Computing," in: Grid Economics and Business Models: 4th international workshop; proceedings / GECON 2007, Rennes, France, August 28, 2007, J. Altmann and D.J. Veit (eds.), (4685 ed.) Springer, Berlin et al., 2007, pp. 16-28.
- Janssen, J., and Laatz, W.: Statistische Datenanalyse mit SPSS für Windows: eine anwendungsorientierte Einführung in das Basissystem und das Modul exakte Tests, (5th. ed.) Springer, Berlin et al., 2005, p. 754.
- Jøsang, A., Ismail, R., and Boyd, C.: "A survey of trust and reputation systems for online service provision," *Decision Support Systems* (43:2), 2007, pp. 618-644 [Online], Available: <u>http://sky.fit.qut.edu.au/~josang/papers/JIB2007-DSS.pdf</u> [Accessed: 26 Feb 2008].
- Joseph, J., Ernest, M., and Fellenstein, C.: "Evolution of grid computing architecture and grid adoption models," *IBM Systems Journal* (43:4) 2004, pp. 624-645.
- Joseph, J., and Fellenstein, C.: *Grid Computing* Prentice Hall Professional Technical Reference, Upper Sadle River, NJ, USA, 2004.
- Kalakota, R., and Robinson, M.: e-Business 2.0: Roadmap for Success Addison-Wesley, Boston, MA, USA, 2001, p. 520.

- Kerlinger, F. N.: *Foundations of behavioral research*, (2nd, repr. ed.) Holt, Rinehart and Winston, London, 1976.
- Kleinaltenkamp, M.: "Standardisierung und Individualisierung," in: Handwörterbuch des Marketing: Enzyklopädie der Betriebswirtschaftslehre (Band 4), B. Tietz, R. Köhler and J. Zentes (eds.), (2nd, completely revised ed.) Schäffer-Poeschel, Stuttgart, 1995, pp. 2354-2364.
- Krauter, K., Buyya, R., and Maheswaran, M.: "A taxonomy and survey of grid resource management systems for distributed computing," *Software Practice* and Experience (32:2) 2002, pp. 135-164.
- Kwon, T. H., and Zmud, R. W.: "Unifying the fragmented models of information systems implementation," in: *Critical issues in information systems research*, R.J. Boland and R.A. Hirschheim (eds.) John Wiley, New York, NY, USA, 1987, pp. 227-251.
- Kwon, Y.-W., Ryu, S.-H., Park, J.-S., and Jeong, C.-S.: "A Workflow-Based Grid Portal for Problem Solving Environment," in: *Network and Parallel Computing: IFIP international conference; proceedings / NPC 2004, Wuhan, China, October 18 - 20, 2004,* H. Jin, G.R. Gao, Z. Xu and H. Chen (eds.) Springer, Berlin et. al, 2004, pp. 47-56.
- Luhmann, N.: "Ethik als Reflexionstheorie der Moral," in: Gesellschaftsstruktur und Semantik: Studien zur Wissenssoziologie der modernen Gesellschaft (3), N. Luhmann (ed.) Suhrkamp, Frankfurt am Main, 1989, pp. 358–447.
- Maqueira, J. M., and Bruque, S.: "Towards an Adoption Model of Grid Information Technology in the Organisational Arena," *grid* (7th IEEE/ACM International Conference on Grid Computing) 2006, pp. 325-326.
- Marsden, P. V., and Lin, N.: Social Structure and Network Analysis Sage Publications, Beverly Hills, CA, USA, 1982.
- Mayer, R. C., Davis, J. H., and Schoorman, F. D.: "An Integrative Model of Organizational Trust," *The Academy of Management Review* (20:3) 1995, pp. 709-734.
- McKee, P., Taylor, S., Surridge, M., Lowe, R., and Ragusa, C.: "Strategies for the Service Market Place," in: *Grid Economics and Business Models: 4th international workshop; proceedings / GECON 2007, Rennes, France, August 28,* 2007, J. Altmann and D.J. Veit (eds.), (4685 ed.) Springer, Berlin et al., 2007, pp. 58-70.
- McKnight, D. H., and Chervany, N. L.: "The Meanings of Trust," *Trust in Cyber-Societies-LNAI* (2246) 2001, pp. 27-54.

- Moore, G. A.: Crossing the Chasm: Marketing and Selling High-Tech Products to Mainstream Customers, (Rev. ed.) HarperBusiness, New York, NY, USA, 1999, p. 227.
- Moore, G. C., and Benbasat, I.: "Development of an Instrument to Measure the Perceptions of Adopting an Information Technology Innovation," *Information Systems Research* (2:3) 1991, pp. 192-222.
- Neumann, D., Holtmann, C., and Orwat, C.: "Grid-Economics," WIRTSCHAFTSINFORMATIK (48:3) 2006, pp. 206-209.
- Neumann, D., Stoesser, J., Anandasivam, A., and Borissov, N.: "SORMA Building an Open Grid Market for Grid Resource Allocation," in: *Grid Economics* and Business Models: 4th international workshop; proceedings / GECON 2007, Rennes, France, August 28, 2007, D.J. Veit and J. Altmann (eds.), (4685 ed.) Springer, Berlin et al., 2007.
- Oberender, P.: Industrielle Forschung und Entwicklung: Eine theoretische und empirische Analyse bei oligopolistischen Marktprozessen Haupt, Bern et al., 1973.
- Oberender, P., and Väth, A.: "Von der Industrieökonomie zur Marktökonomie," in: Marktökonomie: Marktstruktur und Wettbewerb in ausgewählten Branchen der Bundesrepublik Deutschland, P. Oberender (ed.) Vahlen, Munich, 1989, pp. 1-27.
- Parashar, M., and Lee, C. A.: "Special Issue on Grid Computing," *Proceedings of the IEEE* (93:3) 2005, pp. 479-484.
- Plaszczak, P., and Wellner, R.: Grid Computing: The Savvy Manager's Guide Elsevier/Morgan Kaufmann, San Fransisco, CA, USA, 2006.
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J.-Y., and Podsakoff, N. P.: "Common Method Biases in Behavioral Research: A Critical Review of the Literature and Recommended Remedies," *Journal of Applied Psychology* (88:5) 2003, pp. 879–903.
- Premkumar, G., and Ramamurthy, K.: "The role of interorganizational and organizational factors on the decision mode for adoption of interorganizational systems," *Decision Sciences* (26:3) 1995, pp. 303-336.
- Premkumar, G., Ramamurthy, K., and Crum, M. R.: "Determinants of EDI adoption in the transportation industry," *European Journal of Information Systems* (6:2) 1997, pp. 107-121.

- Quocirca: "Grid Computing Update Cycle IV," 2006 [Online], Available: <u>http://www.quocirca.com/pages/analysis/reports/view/dl/store250/item2991/</u> [Accessed: 12 Feb 2008].
- Rasmusson, L., and Jansson, S.: "Simulated social control for secure Internet commerce," in: NSPW '96: Proceedings of the 1996 workshop on New security paradigms ACM, New York, NY, USA, 1996, pp. 18-25.
- Reekers, N., and Smithson, S.: "The Role of EDI in Inter-organizational Coordination in the European Automotive Industry," *European Journal of Information Systems* (5:2) 1996, pp. 120-130.
- Resnick, P., and Zeckhauser, R.: "Trust Among Strangers in Internet Transactions: Empirical Analysis of eBay's Reputation System," in: *The Economics of the Internet and E-Commerce*, M.R. Baye (ed.) JAI Press, Amsterdam et al., 2002, pp. 127–157.
- Robertson, T. S., and Gatignon, H.: "Competitive Effects on Technology Diffusion," *Journal of Marketing* (50:3) 1986, pp. 1-12.
- Rogers, E. M.: *Diffusion of Innovations*, (5th ed.) Free Press, New York, NY, USA, 2003.
- Sabater, J., Paolucci, M., and Conte, R.: "Repage: REPutation and ImAGE Among Limited Autonomous Partners," *Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation* (9:2) 2006, p. 3.
- Sainio, L.-M., and Porras, J.: "Effects of potentially disruptive technology on software company's business model - Case Grid computing," *International Journal of Technology Marketing* (1:2) 2006, pp. 225-242.
- Schikuta, E., Donno, F., Stockinger, H., Wanek, H., Weishäupl, T., Vinek, E., and Witzany, C.: "Business in the Grid: Project Results," 2005 [Online], Available: <u>http://www.pri.univie.ac.at/Publications/2005/Schikuta\_austriangrid\_bigresu\_ lts.pdf</u> [Accessed: 26 Feb 2008].
- Schumpeter, J. A.: Theorie der wirtschaftlichen Entwicklung, (5th ed.) Duncker & Humblot, Berlin, 1952, p. 372.
- Shy, O.: *The Economics of Network Industries* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge et al., 2001.
- Siegel, S.: *Nonparametric Statistics: for the Behavioral Sciences* McGraw-Hill, New York et al., 1956, p. 312.

- Standifird, S. S.: "Online Auctions and the Importance of Reputation Type," *Electronic Markets* (12:1) 2002, pp. 58-62.
- Sterritt, R.: "Autonomic computing," Innovations in Systems and Software Engineering (1:1) 2005, pp. 79-88.
- Thanos, G. A., Courcourbetis, C., and Stamoulis, G. D.: "Adopting the Grid for Business Purposes: The Main Objectives and the Associated Economic Issues," in: Grid Economics and Business Models: 4th international workshop; proceedings / GECON 2007, Rennes, France, August 28, 2007, J. Altmann and D.J. Veit (eds.) Springer, Berlin et al., 2007, pp. 1-15.
- Thompson, V. A.: *Bureaucracy and Innovation* University of Alabama Press, Alabama, 1976.
- Thong, J. Y. L.: "An integrated model of information systems adoption in small businesses," *Journal of Management Information Systems* (15:4) 1999, pp. 187-214.
- Tornatzky, L. G., and Klein, K. J.: "Innovation Characteristics and Innovation Adoption-Implementation: A Meta-Analysis of Findings," *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management* (29:11) 1982, pp. 28-45.
- Treber, U., Teipel, P., and Schwickert, A. C.: "Total Cost of Ownership: Stand und Entwicklungstendenzen 2003," in: Arbeitspapiere WI, (01) 2004, A.C. Schwickert (ed.), Chair of Business Administration and Information Systems, Justus-Liebig-Universität, Gießen.
- Vyssotsky, V. A., Corbató, F. J., and Graham, R. M.: "Structure of the Multics Supervisor," 1965 [Online], Available: <u>http://www.multicians.org/fjcc3.html</u> [Accessed: 03 Dec 2007].
- Weishäupl, T., and Schikuta, E.: "Towards the Merger of Grid and Economy," in: Grid and Cooperative Computing – GCC 2004Workshops Springer, Berlin et al., 2004, pp. 563-570.
- Welch, V., Siebenlist, F., Foster, I., Bresnahan, J., Czajkowski, K., Gawor, J., Kesselman, C., Meder, S., Pearlman, L., and Tuecke, S.: "Security for Grid services," 12th IEEE International Symposium on High Performance Distributed Computing, 2003. Proceedings. , 2003, pp. 48-57.
- Wild, M., and Herges, S.: "Total Cost of Ownership (TCO): Ein Überblick," in: Arbeitspapiere WI, (01) 2000, A.C. Schwickert (ed.), Chair of Business Administration and Information Systems, Justus-Liebig-Universität, Gießen.

- 120 Joachim Westhoff
- Zimmerlich, A., and Aufderheide, D.: "Herausforderungen für das Wettbewerbsrecht durch die Internetökonomie," Work Report No. 4, European Research Center for Information Systems, Münster, 2004 [Online], Available: <u>http://www.ercis.de/ERCIS/research/competencecenter/ioe/publikationen/arb</u> <u>eitsberichte/index.html</u> [Accessed: 11 Feb 2008].

## List of Abbreviations

А	agree
B2B	business-to-business
CDISC	Clinical Data Interchange Standards Consortium
Ch.	Chapter
D	disagree
HL7	Health Level 7
ICT	information and communications technology
IT	information technology
Ν	neutral
NACE	Nomenclature des activités économiques dans la Communauté
	Européenne
OGC®	Open Geospatial Consortium
OGSA	Open Grid Services Architecture
QoS	Quality of Service
ROI	return-on-investment
SA	strongly agree
SD	strongly disagree
SME	small- and medium-sized enterprises
SOA	Service Oriented Architecture
SORMA	Self-Organizing ICT Resource Management
TCO	Total Cost of Ownership
VO	Virtual Organization

(For a list of all items used in the survey, please refer to Appendix D.2)

# **List of Figures**

Figure 2-1. Heuß' classification of entrepreneurs (Source: Author, based on (Heuß
1965, p. 10))
<b>Figure 2-2.</b> Heuß' market phases according to volume of production
Figure 2-3. (a) Accumulated dispersion of an innovation , (b) Diffusion process over
time follows a bell-shaped curve under the normal distribution (Source: Author,
based on (Rogers 2003, pp. 273, 281))
Figure 4-1. Industrial Sectors (Source: Author)
Figure 4-2. Technical standards used for data interchange (Source: Author)
Figure 4-3. Obvious differences between public and private sector (Source: Author)
Figure 4-4. Obvious differences between SMEs and enterprises (Source: Author) 62
Figure 5-1. Theoretical model on the intention to adopt open Grid computing
(Source: Author)
Figure A-1. Scatter plot across all items
Figure B-1. Hard and soft security
Figure B-2. The vulnerability of hard security (based on: Rasmusson and Jansson
1996)
Figure D-1. SORMA questionnaire (Page 1 of 6)
Figure D-1. SORMA questionnaire (Page 2 of 6)
Figure D-1. SORMA questionnaire (Page 3 of 6)
Figure D-1. SORMA questionnaire (Page 4 of 6) 100
Figure D-1. SORMA questionnaire (Page 5 of 6) 101
Figure D-1. SORMA questionnaire (Page 6 of 6)

# List of Tables

Table 2-1. Technological factors	
Table 2-2. Organizational factors	
Table 2-3. Environmental factors	

Table 2-4. Overview of propositions 30
Table 3-1. Surveyed Grid computing research networks
Table 3-2. Convention of classifying correlations (based on: Cohen 1988, pp. 79-81)
<b>Table 4-1.</b> Responses by company size according to employment
Table 4-2. Frequencies of the surveyed items (N=24 unless specified)
Table 4-3. Importance of TCO concepts (d1b1 and d1b2)  47
Table 4-4. Inter-item frequencies between d1a2 and d1b1. Integers represent rounded
percentages
Table 4-5. Inter-item frequencies between d1a2 and d1d1 respectively d1d2. Integers
represent rounded percentages
Table 4-6. Inter-item frequencies between d1a2 and d1e1 respectively d1e2. Integers
represent rounded percentages
Table 4-7. Inter-item frequencies between d1a2 and d3a2. Integers represent rounded
percentages
Table 4-8. Inter-item frequencies between d1b1 and d2e3. Integers represent rounded
percentages
Table 4-9. Inter-item frequencies between d1c1 and d1c2. Integers represent rounded
percentages
Table 4-10. Inter-item frequencies between d1c2 and d2b1. Integers represent
rounded percentages
Table 4-11. Inter-Item frequencies between d1d1, d1d2, d1e1, and d1e2. Integers
represent rounded percentages
Table 4-12.       Inter-item frequencies between d1d1 and d2c1 respectively d2c2.
Integers represent rounded percentages
Table 4-13. Inter-item frequencies between d1d1 and d3a2. Integers represent
rounded percentages
Table 4-14. Inter-item frequencies between d1e1 and d2c2. Integers represent
rounded percentages
Table 4-15. Inter-item frequencies between d1e1 / d1e2 and d3a2. Integers represent
rounded percentages

Table 4-16. Inter-item frequencies between d2a1 and d2a2. Integers represent
rounded percentages
Table 4-17. Inter-item frequencies between d2b1 and d2d2. Integers represent
rounded percentages
Table 4-18. Inter-item frequencies between d2c1 and d2d2 (left) and d2c1 and d3a1
(right). Integers represent rounded percentages
Table 4-19. Inter-item frequencies between d2c2 and d3a1 respectively d3a2. Integers
represent rounded percentages
Table 4-20. Inter-item frequencies between d2d1 and d3a2. Integers represent
rounded percentages
Table 4-21. Inter-item frequencies between d2d2 and d2d3. Integers represent
rounded percentages
Table 4-22. Inter-item frequencies between d3a1 and d3a2. Integers represent
rounded percentages
Table 4-23. Freeman-Halton test for selected items between private and public sector.
With probabilities greater than $\alpha$ =0.05, the null-hypothesis cannot be rejected63
Table 4-24. Freeman-Halton test for selected items between SMEs and Enterprises.
With probabilities greater than $\alpha$ =0.05, the null-hypothesis cannot be rejected64
Table 4-25. Fisher's exact test of selected items between private and public sector.
With probabilities greater than $\alpha$ =0.05, the null-hypothesis cannot be rejected.
Priv (Private Sector), Publ (Public Sector)
Table 4-26. Test of independence of selected items according to company size. With
probabilities greater than $\alpha$ =0.05, the null-hypothesis cannot be rejected. SME
(Small- and Medium-sized Enterprises), Entrp (Enterprises)
Table D-1. Summary of propositions and survey items
Table E-1. Clustered Industrial Sectors for Data Analysis  104
Table F-1. Inter-Item Correlations
Table F-2. Contingency table of items segmented by private / public sector as well as
SME / enterprises 106
Table F-3. Significance of 3x2 contingency tables (private and public sectors).
H(O;U) represents the null hypothesis regarding independence. $P = \sum p$

As Grid computing commenced in the scientific sector, it slowly enters the commercial environment. Although it proposes interesting features for horizontal integration of hardware and resource sharing, businesses slowly implement Intragrids in their companies. Open Grid markets are yet not deployed. The thesis at hand tries to bridge the gap between Intra- and open Grids. An explorative study surveyed Grid experts towards economic and security-related aspects. Accordingly, Grid computing has the potential to reduce the total costs without sacrificing service levels. Yet, subjective assessments of security issues still hinder the deployment. Therefore, a theoretical model of determinants is derived and needed user requirements are presented in order to positively influence the diffusion of open Grids.

ISSN 1864-9300